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Auditor’s report, consolidated annual accounts
and consolidated directors’ report
at 31 December 2012




This version of our report is a free translation from the original, which was prepared in Spanish.

All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the

original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original
language version of our report takes precedence over this translation

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
To the shareholders of ENCE Energfa y Celulosa, S.A.:

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), consisting of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012,
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and related notes to
the consolidated annual accounts for the year then ended. As explained in Note 3.1. the Directors of
the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated annual accounts in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the European Union, and other
provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts taken as a whole, based on the work
performed in accordance with the legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, which requires the
examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the consolidated annual accounts and an
evaluation of whether their overall presentation, the accounting principles and criteria applied and the
estimates made are in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts for 2012 present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and its subsidiaries at 31
December 2012 and the consolidated resulis of its operations and the consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by
the Furopean Union, and other provisions of the applicable financial reporting framework.

The accompanying consolidated Directors’ Report for 2012 contains the explanations which the
Directors of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. consider appropriate regarding the Group’s situation, the
development of its business and other matters and does not form an integral part of the consolidated
annual accounts. We have verified thai the accounting information contained in the consolidated
Direciors’ Report is in agreement with that of the consolidated annual accounts for 2012. Our work as
auditors is limited to checking the consolidated Directors’ Report in accordance with the scope
mentioned in this paragraph and does not include a review of information other than that obtained
from the accounting records of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and its subsidiaries.

Mar Gallardo
Partner

19 February 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, 8.L., Torre PwC, P° de la Castellana 259 B, 28046 Madrid, Espafia
Tel.: +34 915 684 400 / +34 902 021 111, Fax: +34 913 083 566, wwiw.pwe.com/es

R. M. Madrid, hoja 87.250-1, folio 75, tomo 9,267, libro 8.054, seccion 3°
Inscrita en el R.0.A.C. con el nimero 50242 - CIF: B-79 031290
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GRUPO EMPRESARIAL ENCE, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros Note 2012 2011
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Intangible assets 6 21,556 8,127
Property, plant and equipment 7 774,179 770,142
Invastment property 4.0 2,078 2,190
Biological asseis 8 170,958 180,586
Other financial assets 16 4,144 4,065
Deferred tax assels 18 30,580 42 653
1,003,495 1,007,763
CURRENT ASSETS:
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 49,345 16,544
inventories 11 87,575 112,462
Trade and other receivables 12 138,580 122,789
Receivable from Public Authorities 18 28,657 13,005
Current financial assets-
Derivatives 10 10,721 867
Other financial assets 16 7,575 22,824
Cash and cash equivalents 16 40,205 71,629
Other current assets B80S 911
374,554 361,031
TOTAL ASSETS 1,378,049 1,368,704
EQEITY: 13
Share capital 225,245 232,212
Share premium 230,221 254,328
Parent Company reserves 99,916 106,630
Reserves in fully consolidated companies 112,543 102,454
Valuation adjustments 52,992 33,155
Profit for the year attributed to the Parent Company 43,031 41,192
Translation differences {2,011} (591}
Treasury shares {37,213) (49,217)
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company 724,724 720,163
TOTAL EQUITY 724,724 720,183
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 16 13,258 23,185
Financial debt 16 309,632 274,186
Grants 14 20,076 20,244
Derivatives 10 16,627 25,466
Cther financial liabi#ties 17 9,291 9,183
Deferred tax liabilities 18 31,745 28,289
400,629 380,553
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Liabilities associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 - 12,322
Financial debt 16 24,108 20,452
Derivatives 10 14,886 34,610
Other financial liabilities 17 1,562 574
Trade and other payables 12 201,902 181,964
Gorporate Income Tax payable 18 1,313 365
Other accounts payable to Public Authorities 18 8,472 17,855
Other current liabilities 453 136
252,696 268,078
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,378,048 1,368,794

The accompanying Notes 1 e 26 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012.
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in the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS FOR 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros Note 2012 2011
GContinuing operations:
Revenue 19.a 827,578 825,451
Gains or losses on hedging operations 10 {27,567) (10,434)
Changes in inventories of finished goads and work in progress 831 {1,688)
Procurements 19.b {408,048} (390,759)
GROSS MARGIN 392,794 422 570
In-house work on non-current assels 8 24,183 27,236
Other operating income 2,267 5,173
Capitat granis {ransferred to profit and loss 14 4,280 7,431
Staff costs 19.c (82,102) (89,413)
Depreciation and amorlisation charge 6, 7and 8 (63,372} (63,460)
Impairment and gains or losses on disposals of non-current assets 7 6,329 4,392
Cther operating expenses 19.2 (202,113) (233,85Q)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 82,266 80,079
Finance income 747 1,397
Change in fair value of financial instruments 10 6,799 1,554
Finance costs 19.f (24,371} (28,101)
Exchange differences {1,803} 2,085
FIRAKCIAL LLOSS (18,628} {23,065}
Net results from the valuation of non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 {660) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 62,978 57,014
Income tax 18 (19,947} (15,822}
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROW CONTINUING OPERATIONS 43,031 41,192
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 19.h 43,031 41,192
Earnings per share:
Basic 13 0.16 0.16
Diluted 13 0.16 0.16

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 are an integral past of the consclidated income statement for the year 2012,
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros

Note 2012 201t

PROFIT PER CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT {f) 13 43,031 41,192
Income and expenses recognlsed directly in equity-

Cash flow hadges (2,527) (34,608)

Conversion differences (1,420) {591)

Tax effect 768 10,382
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN CONSOLIDATED EQLITY {If) 13 {3,189} {24,817}
Transfers to consolidated profit or loss

- Arising from cash flow hedges 30,920 14,068

- Other adjustments (54)

- Tax effect {5,260) {4,220)
TOTAL TRANSFERS TQ CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS (lIf) 13 21,606 9,848
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED RECCOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (L) 651,448 26,223

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 are an iniegral part of the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for 2012,
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TOTAL CONSOLIDATED EQUITY FOR 2012 AND 2011
Recognised Capital Distribution of Treasury Distribution
Balance at ncome / Increases/! Prior Year's  Distribution of Sharaes of Treasury Ralance at 31-

2012 - Thousands of Euros Note 1-1-2012 {Expense} Dacreases Profit Dividends Transacfions Shares 12-2012
Share capital 232,212 - (8,967) - - - - 225,245
Share premium 254,328 - - - (14,484) - (9,623) 230,221
Legal reserve 39,766 - - 3,110 - - - 42,876
Other Parent Company reserves 68,864 - (9,861) 27,993 (23,203) (356} (4,397) 57,040
Reserves in fully conscofidated companias 102,454 - - 10,089 - - - 112,543
Translation differences (591) {1,420} - - - - - {2011)
Treasury shares {49,217) - 16,828 - 21,173 (40,017} 14,020 {37.213)
Valuation adjustments 33,155 19,837 - - - - - 52,992
Profit for the year altributed to the Parent Company 41,182 43,001 - (41,192) - - - 43,031

726,163 61,448 - - {16,514} {40,373) - 724,724

Recognised pistribution ot lreasury  DIstribution
Batance at Incorne / Capltal Prior Year’s  Distribution of Shares of Treasury ~ Balance at

2011 - Thousands of Euros Note 1-1-2011 {Expense) kncrease Profit Dividends Transactions Shares 31-12-2011
Share capital 232,212 - - - - - - 232,212 4
Shars premium 254,328 . - - - - - 254,328 g
Legal reserve 31,482 - - 8,284 - - - 39,766 ‘
Other Parent Company reserves 150,341 - - (83,644} - 167 - 66,864 |
Reserves in fully consolidated companies 120,683 - - (18,129) - - - 102,464 |
Prior years' losses (132,400} B - 132,400 - - - -
Transtation differences B {591) - - - - - {591)
Treasury shares (2,434) - - - - {46,783) - (49,217)
Valuation adjustments 47,533 (14,378) - - - - - 23,155 }
Profit for the year atiribuled to the Parent Company 654,711 41,192 - (64,711) - - - 41,192 |

766,366 26,223 - (25,800) - {46,616) - 720,163 |

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 are an integral part of the statement of changes in consolidated equily for
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In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR 2012 AND 2011

Thousands of Euros 2012 2014
GASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Consolidated prefit for the year before tax 62,978 57,014
Adustments for-
Depreciation and amertisation charge 53,284 53,736
Exhausticn of forestry reserve 9,110 8,455
Amorlisation of intangible assets 978 1,268
Changes in provisions and other deferred expenses (net} 3,679 (3,565)
Gains/Losses on disposal of non-current assets {2,975) (4,224}
Finance income (747) (5,298}
Finance costs 18,044 29,291
Grants and subsidies transferred to profit and loss {1,243) (1,124}
80,120 78,542
Changes In working capital-
Trade and ather receivables (24,047) (27,953)
Current financial and other assets 18,184 (10,823}
Trads creditors, other payables and other debls (43,775) (7,974}
inventories 18,314 (8,332)
[4,324) 824
Other cash flows from operating activitfes-
- Interest paid {21,542) (28,036)
- Interest received 747 5,295
- Income 1ax recoverad (paid) (9,418) {2,907)
{20,211} (28,647)
Net cash flows from operating activities (1) 111,573 110,733
GCASH FEOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investments:
Property, plant and equipment {104,387} {94,895)
Intangible assets (16,052} (447}
Other financial assets (173) -
{120,612) {95,342)
Disposals:
Property, plant and equipment 361 4,338
Other financial assets 161 1,682
522 6,020
Net cash flows frem investing activities ([} {120,080) {89,322)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANGCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds and payments relating to equity instruments:
Purchase of treasury shares (41,693} (53,708)
Disposal of treasury shares 1,309 7,164
(40,384) (46,544}
Progeeds and payments relating to financial Hability instruments:
Increase / (decrease) in bank borrowings, net of loan arrangement costs 37,428 43,057
Grants and subsidies received - 8,523
37,428 51,580
Dividends and returns on other equity instruments paid
Dividends (16,514) (25,801)
Financial instruments {Equity swap) (3.278) -
{19,790) {25,801)
Translation differences {i81) -
Net cash flows from financing activities (Hl) {22,907} {20,765)
NET INCREASE / DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (H+H+l) (31,424} 646
Cash and cash equivalents at begining of year 71,629 70,983
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 40,205 71,629

The accompanying Notes 1 lo 26 are an inlegral part of the consolidated statement of cash fiows for 2012,
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ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and Subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated

financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2012

Activity of the Group and Strategic Plan

Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (hereinafter "ENCE” or the "Parent Company™} was incarporated in 1968 under the
name Empresa Nacional de Celulosas, S.A. It has its registered offices at Paseo de la Castellana 35, Madrid. On
26 April 2012 the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Parent Company, formerly known as Grupo
Empresarial ENCE, S.A., resolved to change its name to the current name.

The corporate purpose established in the by-laws consists of:

a) Manufacture of cellulose pulp and related by-products, obtaining necessary preducis and items, and
exploitation of any sub-products arising from the aforementioned activities.

b) Generation by any means, sale and usage of electricity and of other energy sources, and of the raw
materials and primary energy sources required for generating, in accordance with the provisions of
prevailing legislation; and marketing, sale and supply of power in any way permitted by law.

¢} Cultivation, exploitation and use of forests and timbertand, forest plantation work and specialist forestry
work and services. Preparation and transformation of forestry products. Commercial use, exploitation and
marketing of forest products of all kinds (including biomass and forest energy crops), and their derivatives
and by-products. Forestry studies and projecls.

d) Design, promotion, development, construction, operation and maintenance of the installations referred to in
paragraphs a), b) and c) above,

The Group's principal activily is the production of cellulose pulp BEKP (Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft Pulp) with ECF
{elementat chlorine free) and TCF (totally chlorine free} bleaching based on eucalyptus. In order to carry out its
activities, the Group operates three mills in Spain, located in the provinces of Asturias, Pontevedra and Huelva,
which have combined production capacity of approximately 1.3 million metric tons per year.

In addition fo its cellulose pulp production, the Group also generates electricity from biomass and bio-fuels
obfained from the pulp production process (mainly lignin), and to a lesser extent using gas and fuel oil. The
integrated generating capacity currently in use in the three plants totals approximately 230 megawatis per year
from 6 power installation.

The Group likewise using the experience acquired in the forestry sector and in the development of shoit cycle
energy crops is linking its expansion strategy through the elecirical generation business with biomass from forest
waste and energy crops. The company in January 2013 started up operation of a plant in Huelva with installed
power of 50 megawaltts, and an instaliation is currently under construction in Merida which is scheduled for start
up in the last quarter 2014 with 20 megawatts power.

In order to assure supplies of timber for the paper pulp manufacturing process and meet the power plants’
demand for biomass fo generate energy, the Group has 87,924 hectares of managed forest land in the Peninsula,
of which it owns 51,918 hectares are its own property (this does not include the forest assets of the Group in
Uruguay after its sale was agreed - see Note 20).

The Parent Company’s shares are listed on the Madrid Stock Exchange.
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Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-longuage version prevails.

Group companies

The following subsidiaries in which the Parent Company directly or indirectly owns 100% of share capital were
fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements for 2012:
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Tramslation of financial statements oviginally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

The Group also includes the following dormant companies, all of which are 100% owned by the Parent Company:
Electricidad de Navia, S.L.U, Ibercel Celulosa, S.L.U., Celulosas de M Bopicua, S.A., Las Pleyades Argentina,
S.A., Las Pléyades Uruguay, S.A., and Zena Franca M Bopicud, S.A.

The Group holds minority shareholdings in certain other companies which were not consolidated because the
effect would not have been material. These are: 50% of the corporate capital of Imacel, A.E.LE., an inactive
corporation; 6% of the capital of Sociedad Andaluza de Valorizacion de la Biomasa, S.l.; and 5% of
Electroquimica de Hernani, S.A.

Basis of presenfation of the consolidated annual statements and consolidation

principles
3.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2012 were obtained from the books and records and annual
statements of the Parent Company and companies members of the Group, and were prepared in accordance with
the applicable regulatory framework for financial reporting and, in particular, in accordance with the international
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EU) 1606/2002 of
the European Parliament and Law 62/2003, of 30 December establishing tax; administrative and social measures
and, accordingly, they present fairly the Group's equity and financial position at 31 December 2012 and the
results of its operations, changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the Group for the year then ended.

Note 4 presents a summary of the mast significant accounting principles and assessment criteria used, the
alternatives allowed by the code for these purposes as well as standards and interpretations issued that were not
in effect as of the date of preparation of these annual stalements.

These consclidated financial statements for the Group for 2012, which were formally prepared by the Parent
Company's directors, will be submitted for approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. It is
considered that they will be approved without any changes. The Group’s consolidated financial statements for
2011 were approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Parent Company held on 26 April
2012,

The euro is the Group’s functional currency, and the consolidated financial statements are therefore expressed in
euros.

3.2 Key decisions in relation to IFRS

The Group adopted the following key decisions in relation to the presentation of the consclidated financial
statements and the additional information disclosed in the notes thereto:

a. The assets and liabilities recognised in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are classified as
current (short term) and non-current {long term). The items in the accompanying consolidated income
statement are presented according to their nature.

b. The Group has opted to present the consolidated cash flow statement using the indirect method.

3.3 Principles of consolidation-
3.3.1 Subsidiaries

“Subsidiaties” are defined as companies over which the Parent Company has the capacity to exercise
effective control; control is, in general but not exclusively, presumed to exist when the Parent owns directly
or indirectly half or more of the voting power of the investee or, even if this percentage is lower or zero,
when, for example, there are agreements with other shareholders of the investee that give the Parent
control. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of a company so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.




Transiation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the Parent Company.
Accordingly, all material balances and effecis of the transactions between consolidated companies are
eliminated on consolidation.

The assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are calculated at reasonable values on its
date of acquisition that led to the form of control indicated in the IFRS 3- business mergers. Any acquisition
cost in excess of reasonable values of net assets identified is recognised as goodwill. If the acquisition cost
is less than the reasonable value of identifiable net assets, the difference is charged to resulis on the
acquisition date.

The results generated by companies acquired during a year are consolidated considering cnly those related
fo the period between the acquisition and closing dates of that year. At the same time the results generated
by companies sold during a year are consolidated considering only those related to the period between the
beginning and closing dates of that year.

3.3.2 Associates

Associates are companies over which the Parent Company is in a position to exercise significant influence,
but not control or joint control. The capacity to exercise significant influence usually exists because the
Parent Company directly or indirectly holds 20% or more of the voting power of the investee.

Associates are valued in the consolidated annuat accounts using the parlicipation method, that is by the
fraction of their net capital that represents their share of capital in the Group, after considering the dividends
received for same and other capital write-offs.

3.3.3 Homogenisation

The entities comprising the framework of the consolidation were consolidated from their individual financial
statements, which are prepared under the Spanish National Chart of Accounts for companies resident in
Spain and according to their own local code for foreign companies. All significant adjustments that were
necessary to adapt them to International Financial Reporting Standards andfor to homogenise them with
Group accounting ctiteria were considered in the consolidation process,

3.3.4 Changes in the scope of consolidation and percenfage ownership inferests

Fiscal Year 2012

Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U. was incorporated to the consolidation framework during fiscal year 2012.
This company was constituted in 2009, and construction of an electrical generation plant with 20 megawatts
installed power was begun in 2012.
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Fiscal Year 2011

Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. was incorporated to the consolidation framework during fiscal year 2011. This
company was constituted in 2009, and construction project of an electrical generation plant with 50

megawatts installed power was acquired in 2011 (see Note 7).

3.4, Comparative information

The information contained in these notes to the 2012 financial statements is presented together with
comparative figures for 2011.
The amount of EUR 3,899 thousand was presented in the section "Other financial costs" in the consolidated

profit and loss statement for fiscal year 2011, corresponding to capitalised financial costs; in the consolidated
financial statements for fiscal year 2011 these were included under the heading “Financial income” in the

consolidated profit and loss statement.

3.5. Seasonality of Group transactions

Given the activities of the Group Companies, Group fransactions are not cyclical or seasonal. Consequently
specific breakdowns are not included in these annual reports.

Nevertheless the production of wood pulp and energy requires stoppages for periods of between 10 and 15
days to undertake maintenance work. Group installations had their general annual shut down in the first half

of 2012.

4.  Accounting principles and assessment standards

Adoption of new standards and interpretations issued

a) Standards and interpretations taking effect in the current year

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations entered into force on 1 January 2012:

Standard

Contents

Mandatory application
in years commencing
as of

IFRS 7 Financial instruments:

Breakdown

transferred

Expands the financial instrument
breakdown regarding financial assets
transfers when some type of continue
involvement remains in the asset

Annual periods commencing as of
1 July-2011

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force

At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the main standards and interpretations

published by the IASB but not yet adopted by the European Union and, therefore, not in force were:

]




Tramslation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Standard

Contents

Mandatory application
in years commencing
as of

IAS 12 — “Profit tax”

IFRS 9 Financial imstruments:
Classification and measurement

IFRS I (Amendment) “Elevated
hyperinflation and elimination of
fixed dates applicable to first
adopters”

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial
statements (published in May
2011)

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
(published in May 2011)

IFRS 12 Breakdown of
shareholdings

1n other entities (published in
May 2011)

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement
(published in May 2011)

IAS 27 (Revised) Separate
financial statements (published in
May 2011)

IAS 28 (Revised) Investments in
associates and joint ventures
{(published in May 2011)

Amendment of IAS 1 -
Presentation of Other

Comprehensive Income
{published in June 2011)

Change affects deferred taxes related
to real properties according to the
reasonable value model of IAS 40
“Real Estate Investments”

Replaces the classification and
measurement requirements
established by 1AS 39 for financial
assets and liabilities

Changes related to the high level of
hyperinflation provide a goide on first
time presentation, or how to
summarise with the presentation of
financial statements prepared under
the IFRS, after a period when the
entity could not comply with IFRS
requirements because their functional
currency was subject to high levels of
hyperinflation

Replaces the current consolidation
requirements established in TAS 27

Replaces the current IAS 31 on
interests in joint ventures

Separate standard establishing
disclosure requirements for ownership
interests in subsidiaries, associates,
jointly controlled entities and non-
consolidated entities

Establishes the framework for fair
value measurement

Revision of the standard, as only an
entity’s separate financial statements
following the issuance of IFRS 10

Parallel review in relation to the issue
of IFRS 11- Joint ventures

Minor amendment in relation to the
presentation of Other Comprehensive
Income

Annual periods commencing as of
1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing as of
1 January 2015

Annual periods commencing as of
1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of T January 2014

Anmual periods commencing
as of 1 Janvary 2013

Annual periods commeneing

as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 July 2012
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Mandatory application
Standard Contents in years commencing as of
Amendment of TAS 32 — Annual periods commencing

Financial instruments:
Presentation-Compensation of
assets with financial liabilities
(published in December 2011)

Amendment of IFRS 7 —
Financial instruments:
Presentation-Compensation of
assets with financial liabilities
{published in December 2011)

Intepretation IFRIC 20:
Extraction costs during the
production phase of an open-pit
nline

(published in October 2011)

Improvements to IFRS Cycle
2009-2011 (published in May
2012)

Amendment of IAS 19 Employee
benefits (published in June 2011)

Amendment, 1FRS 10, IFRS 11
and IFRS 12 (Amendment)
“Consolidated financial
statements, joint agreements and
breakdowns of shareholdings in
other companies: Transitory
provisions”

Addition clarifications to the IAS 32
rules for compensation of financial
assets and liabilities, and introduction
of new IFRS 7 breakdowns

The International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee addresses
the accounting treatment of the cost of
eliminating waste materials in surface
mines

Exception in consolidation for parent
companies that comply with the
definition of investment company

Amendments basically affect defined
benefits plans, as one of the key
changes is the elimination of the
“flactuation corridor”

Amendments to clarify that the first
date of application is the first day of
the first fiscal year when IFRS 10 is
applied for the first time.

as of 1 January 2014

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 Janumary 2013

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing
January 2013

Annual periods commencing

as of 1 January 2013

Annual periods commencing
as of 1 January 2013
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Mandatory application
in years commencing
Standard Contents as of

Amendment IFRS 10, IFRS 12 | The amendment to IFRS 10 under Annual periods commencing
and TAS 27 “Investment entities” | determined circumstances implies that{as of 1 January 2014

similar entities and funds will be
exempt from consolidation of the
parent entities. Instead, they will be
assessed at a reasonable value with
changes in results. Amendments to
IFRS 12 to introduce reporting
requirements that a company of this
type must include in its consolidated
annual accounts,

IFRS | {Amendment) “Public Amendment intended to allow entities | Annual periods commencing
loans™ adopting the 1FRS for the first time, to|as of | January 2013

apply the provisions of IAS 20
“Accounting for official subsidies and
information on public entities to be
reported”, applicable to entities that
already use IFRS, with respect to
public loans at interest rates below
market.

Accounting policies

Following are the principal assessment standards used in preparing the consolidated annual financial statements
of the Group according to Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union:

a) Infangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost of acquisition or production. Afier initial recognition, these
assets are carried at cost less the amount of accumulated amortisation and any impairment lesses incurred.

The Group's intangible assets are considered to have finite useful lives and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over the petiod representing the best estimate of the said useful lives.

Development costs-

Development costs are capitalised annually providing the amounts concerned are separately identified for
each project, and there are sound reasons fo expect projects to succeed technically and generate financial
returns. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over 5 years.

Computer software -

The Group recognises the costs incurred in the acquisition of computer software and software licences under
this caption. Computer software maintenance costs are recognised with a charge to the consolidated income
statement for the year in which they are incurred.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

10



b)

Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Greenhouse gas emission righis-

Untit the year 2012 the Group every year obtained CO2 emission rights, without charge, by virtue of the
Spanish National Assignment Plan that was developed under Law 1/2005, which regulates the sale of these
rights.

Emission rights equivalent to emissions occurred during the year are delivered during the first months of the
following year. If emissions are over the volume of rights assigned, then emission rights must be acquired on
the market. And along the same lines if emissions are below the rights assigned, then these can be sold on
the market.

Emission rights are registered when assigned at their fair market value under "Intangible assets - Greenhouse
gas emission rights", and a non-refundable capital subsidy is recorded at the same time in the same amount.

After initial recognition, emission rights are carried at cost less the amount of any cumulative impairment
losses recognised, but they are not amortised.

The costs associated with the greenhouse gases consumed in the period are recognised with a charge to
“Other operating expenses” under "Non-current provisions” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
at the amount for which any available emission rights were granted, or as meastired based on best estlmates
of the possible cost it would be necessary to incur to cover any shortfall in the said rights.

The provision made and the intangible asset recognised when the emission rights were received will be
cancelled upon redemption of the righis.

Non-repayable grants associated with the emission rights acquired free of charge are recognised under
“Capital grants transferred to profit and loss” in the accompanying consolidated income statement as CO2
emissions are related with the subsidised emission rights.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition or production cost, and are subsequently
presented net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses incurred, where appropriate, in
accordance with the criteria described in this Note 4.b.

The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or
efficiency, or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised.

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year in
which they are incurred.

For non-current assets that necessarily take a petiod of more than one year to get ready for their intended
use, the capitalised costs include such borrowing costs as might have been incurred before the assetls are
ready to enter service and were charged by the supplier or relate to loans or other specific-purpose or general-
purpose borrowings directly attributable to the acquisition or production of the assets. The interest rate used
corresponds to the rate for specific financing or, if none, the mean financing rate for the Group.

Group work on non-current assets is measured at accumulated cost, which is calculated as external costs plus
in-house costs, determined on the basis of in-house warehouse materials consumption, and manufacturing
costs allocated using hourly absorption rates simifar to those used for the measurement of inventories.

The Group companies depreciated their property, plant and equipment by the straight-line basis method at
ahnual rates based on the years of estimated useful life of the assets (land is understood to have an indefinite
useful life and is therefore not depreciated}, as follows:

11
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Estimated Years
of Useful Life
Buildings 20-40
Plant and machinery 11-16
Other fixtures, tools and furniture 11
Other items of property, plant and il

equipment

Investments made in buildings constructed on land granted under administrative concessions are recognised
under “Buildings”. This cost, and the cost of any other permanent fixtures located on concession land, is
depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life or the term of the concession.

Assets financed with financing applied to projects

Grupo Ence has invested in infrastructure for biomass production of electricity, financed through "Project
finance".

These financing structures are applied fo projects that in themselves sufficiently guarantee the participating
financial entifies the reimbursement of the debts undertaken to carry them out. Each of these are therefore
normally carried out through specific companies in which the project assets are financed on the one hand by
funds contributed by the promoters, which is limited to a determined amount, and on the other by third party
funds, generally a larger amount, which comprise long term debt. The service of these credits or loans is
backed mainly by the future flows generated by each project, as well as by real guarantees over the project
assets,

These assets are valued by costs incurred, net of revenue generated, that are charged directly to its
construction until start up in operating condition and include such items as studies and plans, expropriations,
replacement of services, project performance, construction administration costs and management,
installations, buildings and other similar costs, as well as the part corresponding to other indirect costs
incurred during the construction period. Financing costs accrued prior to start up in operating conditions are
also included, deriving from the third party financing used to finance construction of the building. Capitalised
financial costs are from specific financing used expressly as acquisition of the asset.

Impairment of intangible and tangible assets

On the closing date of each balance sheet the Group reviews the book amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, biological assets, real properties and intangible assets to determine if these have suffered any loss
or impairment.

Whenever there are indications of impairment, the Group tests tangible and intangible assets for impairment to
determine whether the recoverable amount of the assets has been reduced to below their carrying amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cosis {o sell and value in use.

The directors of the Parent Company perform impairment tests as follows:
Recoverable values are calculated for each cash generating unit, which are the cellulose production and
electricity generation plants operated by the Group, and include the forest capital planned to supply those

units.

Each year, the Group prepares a business plan for each cash-generating unit, generally covering a period of
three years. The business plans consists of financial projects prepared by the Group Administration on the
basis of past experience and the best available estimates of earnings, investments and working capital.

12
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A residual value is also calculated from the normalised cash flow from the last year projected, and a growth
rate applied fo perpetuity (generally between 0% and 3%). The cash flow used to calculate residual value
includes investments in replacement that are necessary for the business to continue in the future at the
estimated growth rate.

For assets that are related to projects with an independent financial structure whose flows can be seen with a
certain degree of precision during the construction as well as during the operating phases, expected cash
flows are projected to the end of the expected life of the asset. Consequently no terminal value is considered.
Projections include both known information (based on project contracts) as well as fundamental hypotheses
supported by specific expert studies (for production, etc.). Macroeconomic data (inflation, interest rates, etc.)
are also projected and a sensitivity analysis is made around all the variables whose changes could
significantly affect the value of the asset.

In order to calculate value in use, the cash flows so estimated are discounted applying a discount rate
representing the mean weighted cost of capital, taking into account the cost of borrowing and business risks
deriving from the type of asset and market in which it is developed. These discount rates in their minimum
range consider the cost of the debt incurred by the Group.

if the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated as below its book value, then the latter is reduced to its
recoverable rate, recognising the corresponding discount through in the consolidated profit and loss accounts;
except when the refevant asset may have been registered at a revalued amount, in which case the loss due to
impairment is considered a reduction in the existing revaluation reserve.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount, but so that the increased camying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. A reversal for an impairment loss is recognised as income.

The directors of the Parent Company find that there is no significant indication of impairment of the Group's
non-current assets.

Investment property

The section in the attached balance sheet entitled “Real Estate Investments” uses values, net of accumulated
amortization, for the land, buildings and other constructions that are kept either for operation under lsass, or
for a gain upon their sale.

Real estate investments are presented appraised at their acquisition cost, following the same criteria as
elements of the same class included in the section “Property, plant and equipment”.

Biological assets

A part of the Group’s activity involves the cultivation of various species of trees, mainly eucalyptus, for use as
raw material in the production of wood pulp and energy. Standing timber is treated as a biological asset.
Forest land is measured in accordance with |IAS 16 "Property, plant and equipment” and is recognised under
“Broperty, plant and equipment” in the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 7).

Currently there are no markets for these tree species in Spain, nor valid information that would aflow us to
estimate their reasonable value. Also, standing timber matures in an average period of up to 40 years
including between 2 and 4 cycles, and a range of other variables may affect valuation using the discounted
cash flows measurement, so that it is not possible to calculate fair value reliably using this method. As a
conseqguence of the foregoing, the Group has opted to recognise standing timber at historic cost {i.e. cost less
accumulated depreciation, less any accumulated impairment losses). Also, sensitivity analyses are performed
o test the value of these assets based on cerfain indicators. The results of these analyses confirm the
measurement criteria currently applied.
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Therefore, investments in forestry assets are measured by allocating all costs directly incurred in the
acguisition and development of the assets, including leases, clearing and preparation of land, planting,
fertilisers, care and upkeep.

Furthermore, a variable and individualised percentage of the carrying amount of standing timber is capitalised
as interest up to the limit of its estimated realizable value. The interest rate used is the mean financing rate for
the Group.

The cost allocation method applied to harvest is based on the total costs incurred to the date of felling and the
residual value of the plantation. Divestments of the lumber of the Group came fo EUR 9.107 million during
2012, and EUR 8.635 million during 2011. These amounts are included in the account "Forestry reserves
depletion” in the section "Provision for Amortisation” in the consolidated profit and loss statement (see Note 8).

Leases

The Group leases certain assets. All of the leases concluded by the Group have been classified as operating
leases based on the substance of the contracts, which under no circumstances transfer ownership of the
leased assets or any of the rights and risks inherent therein.

Expenses from operating leases are recognised in the consclidated income statement in the year in which
they are accrued.

Financial instruments

f.1) Financial assets
The financial assets held by the Group are classified into the following categories:

- Credits and accounts receivable: frade receivables and financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments arising from non-trade operations arising on the sale or goods or the provision of services.

- Financial assets available for sale: Includes mainiy financial shares in other companies as well as the
remaining financial assets that have not been classified in the above categories.

No financial assets were reclassified during fiscal year 2012 and 2011, among the calegories defined in the
above paragraphs.

Initial recognition-

Financial assets are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration given plus any directly attributable
fransaction costs.

Subsequent measurement-

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. The Group also records impairments as charges
against the consolidated profit and loss account, when there is an estimated risk of recoverability of same,
based on the age of the debt.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, and the gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are recognised in consolidated equity until the asset is disposed of or it is determined that it has
become (permanently) impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised are taken
to the net consclidated profit or loss for the year.

Derecognition-
The Group derecognises a financial asset when it expires or when the rights to the cash flows from the

financial asset have been transferred and substantially ali the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred.

However, the Group does not derecognise financial assets, and recognises a financial {iability for an amount

equal to the consideration received, in fransfers of financial assets in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained.
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f.2) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable by the Group that have arisen from the purchase of goods and
services in the normal course of its business, and those which, not having commercial substance, cannot be
classed as derivative financial instruments.

Accounts payable are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, adjusted by the
directly attributable transaction costs. These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. In this
case bank loans are recorded for the amount received, net direct issuance costs. Financial costs including
direct issuance costs are recorded following the accrual criteria in the profits and loss account, using the
effective interest method, and the book amount of the instrument is added to the degree that it was not
liquidated during the period caused.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when the obligations giving rise to them cease to exist.
f.3) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group's activities expose it mainly to financial and market risks arising from changes in the US dollar/euro
exchange rate, which mainly affect its sales because the price of pulp is quoted in US dollars in the
international market, and exchange rate fluctuations affecling sales made in foreign currency, as well as
changes in the prices of the pulp, fuel oil, gas and electricity, as these are necessary inputs for the production
process. The Group is also exposed to the impact of variations in interest rates on its financial liabilities. The
Group uses financial derivative instruments to hedge these exposures.

These financial instruments are initially recognised at their cost of acquisition and the necessary valuation
adjustments are subsequently made to reflect their fair value at any given time. Write-downs are recognised
under “Derivatives” in the consolidated balance sheet, and any eventual write-backs are recognised in
"Financial assets — Derivatives”. The gains or losses on these changes in value are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, unless the derivative has been designated as a hedging instrument, in which
case it is recognised as follows:

1. Hedge value coverage: both the hedged item and the hedging instrument are measured at fair value, and
any changes in the value of either are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Effects are offset
in the same caption of the consolidated income statement.

2. Cash flow hedges Changes in the fair value of financial derivatives are recognised in “Equity — Valuation
adjustments”. The cumulative foss or gain recognised under this heading is transferred to the consolidated
income statement to the extent the underlying has an impact on the consolidated income statement, so
that both effects are offset.

in order for these financial instruments to qualify for hedge accounting, they are initially designated as such
and the hedging relationship is documented. The Group also verifies, both at inception and periodicaily over
the term of the hedge, that the hedging relationship is effective, i.e., that it is prospectively foreseeable that
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item (atiributable to the hedged risk) will be almost fully
offset by those of the hedging instrument, and that, retrospectively, the gain or loss on the hedge was within a
range of 80-125% of the gain or loss on the hedged item. The part of the hedging instrument that is
determined to be ineffective is immediately recognised through the consolidated income statement.

The fair values of the different financial derivative instruments is calculated by discounting expected cash
flows based on conditions in both spot and futures markets at the calcutation date. All of the methods used are
generally accepted by financial instrument analysts.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedge is no longer highly effective. In this case, the cumulative
gain or loss arising on the hedging instrument that was recognised directly in equity is maintained until the
expected commitment or transaction materialises, when it is transferred to the consolidated income statement.
Where the commitment or transaction envisaged is not expecied to occur, any accumulated gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is taken to the consolidated income statement.
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Estimation of fair value

Fair value appraisals made of the different financial derivatives are found in level 2 of the hierarchy of fair
values established by IFRS 7, as they are referenced to observable variables other than listed prices. More
specifically, the fair values calculated for each type of financial instrument (see Note 10} are as follows:

- Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future liquidations between the fixed and variable rate,
according to market conditions, obtained from swap rate curves at fong term. The volatility inherent in the
calculation is used, through formulas for appraising options, to calculate reasonable fair values of caps
and floors.

- Hedge agreements on foreign currency exchange and options hedge agreements are valued using the
contract exchange rate listings and interest rate curves for the currencies involved as well as implicit
volatility until expiration in the case of options.

- Commodities agreements (fuel} are valued in a similar manner, in this case considering future prices for
the underlying asset and the implicit market volatility for options.

- The Group uses the discounted cash flows method in the case of derivatives not negotiable in organised
markets to discount expected cash flows and generally accepted options structures, based on both cash
as well as future market conditions as of the closing date of the period. However at December 31, 2012
and 2011 the Group had no noti-negotiable derivative contracts on organised markets.

f.4) Equity instruments

An equity instrument represents a residual ownership interest in the equity of the Parent Company once all of
its liabilities have been deducted.

The equity instruments issued by the Parent Company are recognised in equity for the amount of the proceeds
received, net of issue costs.

Treasury shares acquired by the Parent Company are recognised at the value of the consideration paid and
are presented as a reduction in equity. The gain or loss arising on the purchase, sale, issue or redemption of
treasury shares are recognised directly in equity. No amounts are recognised in the income statement in this
respect.

f.5) Classification of current and non-current

Assets and liabilities are classified in the attached consolidated balance sheet according to their expiration;
that is, as current with a maturity at or less than twelve months and non-current with maturity greater than
twelve months.

Inventories

Stocks of raw materials, finished products and work in progress are measured at the lower of cost of
acquisition, production cost or market value.

Production costs is determined by including the cost of materials, labour, and direct and indirect manufacturing
expenses.

The Group uses the weighted average cost method to assign value to its inventories,

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. The Group recognises the appropriate write-downs as an
expense in the consolidated income statement when the estimated net realizable value of the inventories is
lower than acquisition (or production) cost thereof. These estimates consider the age and degree of turnover
of inventories.

16




h)

i)

P

Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises both cash and demand bank deposits. Cash equivalents are highly liquid, short-term
investments that are easily converted into cash, have an original maturity of no more than three months and
are not subject to any significant risk of change in value.

Income tax, assets and liabilities for deferred taxes

Income tax expense for the year is calculated by adding the current tax resulting from application of the tax
rate to the adjusted profit for the year, and then applying the tax deductions allowed, plus the variation in
assets and liabilities for deferred taxes.

Assets and liabilities for deferred taxes are taxes payabie or recoverable for differences between the book
value of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements, and their tax value. These are recorded applying
the tax rate which is expected for recovery or liquidation.

Corporate tax and variations in deferred taxes recorded as assets or liabilities that do not arise from business
mergers, are recorded in the consclidated profit and loss account or in the net equity accounts in the
consolidated balance sheet, according to where the profils or losses originated by them were recorded.

Variations from business mergers that are not recognised in the takeover as recovery is not insured, are
reduced, as applicable, from the goodwill value recognised in the accounting for the merger, or using the
above criteria if there is no goodwill.

Assets for deferred taxes identified with temporary differences, negative tax bases and deductions pending
compensation are recognised only if the consolidated entities are considered to probably have sufficient tax
gains in the future against those that may use them.

Deferred taxes recorded (both assets as well as liabilities) are reviewed at the close of each period in order to
prove that they remain current, with the appropriate corrections made according to the results of the analysis
made.

The Parent Company and the rest of its subsidiaries registered in Spain in which the Parent owns interests in
share capital equal fo or exceeding 756% file consolidated tax returns under the regime established in Chapter
V11, Title V1il of the Corporate Income Tax Law.

Income and expenses

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when the
Group is likely to receive the economic benefits of the transaction and the amount thereof can be reliably
measured. Sales are recorded net of VAT and discounts.

Revenues from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and all of the risks and rewards
inherent in ownership have been transferred.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Expenses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when there is a decrease in future economic
henefits relating to a reduction in an asset or an increase in a liability which can be reliably measured. This
implies that an expense is recognised at the same time as an increase in a liability or a reduction in an asset.

Expenses derived from the receipt of goods or services are recognised at the moment in which they are
received.

An expense is recognised immediately when a payment does not generate future economic benefits, or when
it does not meet the requirements for recognition as an asset.
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Provisions and contingencies

The consolidated financial statements include all provisions with respect to which it is considered likely that an
obligation will have to be settled. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements but rather are disclosed in the accompanying notes, unless the possibility of an outflow in
settlement is not considered remote.

Provisions, including variable employee remuneration, are measured based on the present value of the best
estimate possible of the sum necessary to cancel or transfer the obligation, taking into account the information
available on the event and its consequences. Adjustments to provisions are recognised as finance costs as
they are accrued.

At 2012 year end, various legal actions and claims were in progress against the Group. Both the Parent
Company's legal advisers and its directors consider that the conclusion of these proceedings and claims will
not have a materiai effect on these consolidated financial statements.

Termination benefits

Under current legislation, the Group is required to pay termination benefits to employees terminated under
certain condifions. Therefore, termination benefits that can be reasonably guantified are recognised as an
expense in the year in which the decision o terminate the employment relationship is taken.

The Group recognised an allowance of EUR 1,369 thousand for this item under “Trade and other payables —
payable to employees” in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 (EUR 251 thousand at 31
December 2011) in order to cover incentivised terminations at the end of the reporiing period.

m) Environmental assets and liabilities

Environmental activities are operations with the main objective of preventing, reducing or repair environmental
damages.

In this case, investments deriving from environmental activities are valued at their acquisition cost and
included as the greatest fixed asset cost in the year incurred, according fo the assessment rules described in
sections a) and b) of this note.

Expenses deriving from environmental protection and improvement are charged to the resuits for the year in
which they are incurred, regardless of the time when the monetary or financial currents occurred deriving from
them (see Note 25).

Provisions relating to probable or ceriain environmental responsibilities, litigation and compensation or
obligations payable for indeterminate amounts that are not covered by the insurance policies arranged are set
aside, where appropriate, at the fime the responsibility or obligation determining compensation or payment
arises.

Pension obligations

Certain group companies have established the following commitments for retirement, widows, orphans and
ancestors pensions, to supplement the Social Security benefits due to employees and members of their
families:

1. Current employees

Commitment to current employees at year end whereby the Company and the employee concerned
contribute a pre-established percentage of salary for pension purposes to the Ence Group’s “Joint
Promotion Pension Plan” promoted in accordance with article 40.d) of the Pension Plans and Funds
Regulations (defined contributions). This pension plan is included in the SERVIRENTA Il F.P. Pension
Fund.
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2. Retired employees

In December 1997 the Parent Company arranged a single premium insurance policy with an insurance
company to guarantee the contingencies covered by the aforementioned fund.

Payments made by the insurance company constitute a tax deductible expense when they are seltled.
Siock-based payments

The General Meeting of Shareholders of the Parent Company on 30 March 2007 approved a Special
Executive Variable Compensation Pian for the years 2007-2011, which was amended on 22 June 2010 to the
current ENCE Energia y Celulosa S.A. Long Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015" (the Plan).

The objective of the Plan is to incentivise compliance with the goal set by the Board of Directors for the years
2010, 2011 and 2012. A maximum of 3,850,000 stock options are subject to delivery, representing 1.53% of
equity.

Currently 539,072 options have been granted for the year 2010 at a price of EUR 2.44 per share; and 753,225
options for the year 2011 at a price of EUR 1.95 per share.

These options may be exercised two years after they are granted, provided that:
1. the beneficiary continues to serve Ence under an employment or commercial relationship, unless
service was discontinued as a consequence of unfair dismissal; and
2. the Parent Company has specified a regular dividend policy at the time the options are exercised.
At the Annual General Meeting held on 29 April 2011, the shareholders resolved to extend the term of the
aforementioned Grupo Empresarial ENCE, S.A. Long-Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015 for the Chief

Executive Officer, to allow him fo be assigned the unaliocated options under the Plan in 2013 up to the
maximum number of options authorised for the CEO.

The stock options will be settled in cash. Consequently, a liability is recognised in this respect at the date of
each consolidated balance sheet equal to the portion of services received at the current fair value thereof.

The fair value of the Special Variable Executive Compensation Plan has been determined using the Black-
Scholes method, which is generally accepted for financial instruments of this type. Following that method the
accrued cost for 2012 was EUR 160 thousand {null in fiscal year 2011).

Grants

Non-refundable capital grants associated with investment in production assets are valued at the fair market
value of the amount received, and charged to results in proportion to the period depreciation for the elements

- for which the grant was received or, as applicable, upon disposal of the asset or recognition of the impairment

q)

loss.

These are charged to the consolidated income statement when they are awarded, unless the award is made
to finance specific expenses, in which case the grant is recognised in line with the accrual of the subsidised
expenses.

Consolidated cash flow statement

The following terms are used in the consclidated cash flow statements (prepared using the indirect method)
with the meanings specified:

1. Cash fiows; inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, the latter being understood as highly
liquid current financial instruments with a low risk of fluctuations in value.

19




Translation of financial statements oviginally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

2. Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing activities of the entities forming the consolidated
Group and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.

3. Investment activities: activities involving the acquisition, sale or disposal in any other way of non-current
assets or other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

4. Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
borrowings of the Group companies that are not operating activities.

r}) Related party transactions

The Group performs all transactions with related parties on an arm’s length basis.

s) Balances and transactions in currencies other than the euro

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which the Group's functional and presentation
currency.

Transiation of transactions and balances-

The Group converts balances receivable and payable expressed in currencies other than the eurc applying
the exchange rates ruling at the transaction date. Receivables and balances are measured at this exchange
rate until they are seitled. Exchange gains or losses arising on the collection of receivables and payment of
liabilities in currencies other than the euro, and differences arising from year-end measurement of non-euro
receivables and payables at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in which they arise.

Translation of the financial statements of Group companies-

The earnings and financial position of all Group companies using a presentation currency other than the euro
{none of which is the currency of a hyperinfiationary economy) are translated to euros as follows: assets and
liabilities are converted at the year-end rate ruling at the reporting date; equity is translated at historic rates of
exchange; and revenues and expenses are converted at the average rate for the period. The resulting
differences on exchange are recognised in equity, and will be charged tfo the consolidated profit and loss
account for the period in which the investment was transferred.

Long-term loans granted by the Parent Company to consolidated establishments and companies using a
functional currency other than that of the Group are treated as net financial assets held abroad. All resulting
exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.

f) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a group of assets earmarked for disposal is classified as a held-for-sale asset where its
vatue will be recovered basically as a result of sale, providing the sale is considered highly likely.

These assets or groups of assets are valued at book value or at estimated sales value, whichever is lower,
deducting the costs necessary for this and are no longer amortised after they are classified as non-current
assets held for sale; however the corresponding corrections are made at the date of each balance sheet so \
the book value does not exceed reasonable value plus sales costs. These corrections are listed in the section !
“Net result of non-current classified as held for sale" in the consolidated balance sheet.

Non-current assets held for sale and elements of groups classified as held for sale are presented in the \\
consolidated balance sheet, as follows: Assets in a single line denominated “non-current assets held for sale”
and liabilities, also in a single line, denominated “liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale”.

A discontinued operafion is any component of the Group which has been scld or otherwise disposed of, or
which has been classified as held for sale and, among other conditions, represents a line of business or a
significant area which may be regarded as separate from the rest.
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After tax profit or loss on discontinued operations appear in a single line in the consolidated profit and loss
statement, denominated "Net result of appraisal of non-current assets held for sale".

u} Earnings per share:

Base eamning per shares is calculated as the guotient between net profit for the period attributable to the
Parent Company and the mean weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period, not
including the mean number of Parent Company freasury shares in Group companies.

Diluted share earnings are calculated as the quotient between the net profit/loss of the period attributable to
ordinary shareholders and adjusted for the effect to potential ordinary shares with a dilutive effect and the
mean weight number of ordinary shares that would be issued if all potential ordinary shares were converted
into ordinary shares of the company. The conversion in this case is considered as occurring at the beginning
of the period or at the time of issue of the potential ordinary shares, if these would be placed in circulation
during the same period. Since there are no potential ordinary shares with a dilutive effect with the Group, the
base earning and diluted by share for the years 2012 and 2011 are the same.

Responsibility for information and estimates made-

Certain estimates were made in preparing the consolidated financial statements for 2012, in order to measure
certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported herein. These estimates relate
basically to the following:

® The assessment of possible impairment losses on certain assets.

e The useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

® The fair values of certain assets, basically comprising financial instruments.

° The assumptions employed in the calculation of certain commitments with employees.

o Calculation of the provisions necessary to cover the risks related with ongoing litigation and insolvencies.
° The recoverability of deferred tax assets.

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 2012 and 2011.
However, events that take place in the future might make it necessary to change them. Any such changes in
accounting estimates would be applied prospectively in accordance with IAS 8.

Changes in estimates and accounting policies and fundamental error corrections

The effect of any change in accounting estimates is recorded prospectively, in the same section of the profit and
loss account in which the cost or revenue is recorded with the previous estimate.

Changes in accounting policies and correction of fundamental errors are registered as follows, if they have an
important impact; the accumulated effect at the beginning of the period is adjusted under reserves and the effect
in the petiod is recorded in the profit and loss account for the period. In these cases the financial information for
the comparative period is re-stated together with the period in course.

There were no significant changes in accounting estimates, or in accounting policies, or in error corrections at 31
December 2012 or 2011.

Exposure to risk

Assisted by senior management, the Board of Directors defines the Group's risk management criteria for risks to
which the Group is exposed, and establishes internal control systems that allow the Group to maintain the
probability and impact of any such event within established levels of tolerance.
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The internal auditing department assures appropriate implementation of the risk management criteria and policies
defined by the Board of Directors and oversees compliance with the internal control systems implemented.

The main financial risks affecting the Group and the policies and controls adopted to mitigate them are as follows:
Market risk-
Pulp and energy prices-

The price of BEKP cellulose pulp is established in an active market, the evolution of which significantly conditions
the volume of the Group’s revenues and its earings. Changes in cellulose pulp prices modify the cash flows
obtained from sales.

Cellulose pulp price display a marked cyclical nature, and there has been considerable price volatility in recent
years, The behaviour of the price is associated basically with changes in volumes or the conditions dictating
supply and demand, as well as the financial situation of firms operating in the market.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has made significant investments in recent years to raise productivity and
improve the quality of the product it markets. It also continually assesses the possibility of hedging pulp prices for
future sales (see Note 10).

A 5% increase in the international pulp price in euros would increase the Group’s revenues by approximately
3.6%.

Timber supplies-

Eucalyptus timber is the main input for the production of cellulose pulp, and its price is subject to fluctuations due
to regional changes in the balance of supply and demand and the need fo access markets in other regions,
resulting in the consequent logistics overheads, when more local supplies are insufficient to meet demand.

The risk arises from an insufficient offering in the areas where our plants are located, and is managed mainly
through access to alternate markets that normally include a higher logistical cost.

Furthermore, the Group maximises the value added in its products among others by increasing its use of certified
timber, which is more costly.

A 5% increase in the price per cubic metre of eucalyptus timber used in the production process would reduce the
operating margin by approximately 15%.

Regulation-

European Union environmental regulation has in recent years increased restrictions on the emission of effluents;
GO2, etc. Future regulatory changes could cause increases in the expenses incurred to comply with those
reguirements.

Renewable energy generation is also a regulated activity. Future regulatory changes could therefore affect
revenues. A 5% increase in the prices determining revenues from electricity generating operations would raise the
Group's total revenues by approximately 1%.

On 27 January 2012, the Spanish Council of Ministers approved Royal Decree Law 1/2012, temporarily
suspending the procedures for pre-allocation of remuneration and removing finangial incentives for new power
plants using cogeneration, renewable energy sources and waste. This legislation also allows the Government to
regulate specific financial regimes covering certain special regime power plants, and it also establishes the right
of cogeneration plants and other power plants using primary energy sources, non-consumable and non-hydraulic
renewable energy, biomass, bio-fuels and agriculiural waste to receive remuneration under a specific financial
regime.
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Law 15/2012 of 27 December with tax measures for sustainable energy effective 1 January 2013 includes tax
changes that affect the Group’s activities. A tax is created on the value of the energy produced with an impact on
the entire energy sector, equivalent to 7% of revenue from generation. Tax rales established for natural gas are
changed, and exemptions provided for energy products used in the production and cogeneration of electricity and
useful heat, are eliminated.

Royal Decree Law 2/2013 of 1 February with emergency measures for the electrical sector and the financial
system establishes that for all methodologies for revenue changes that are tied to the general CPI, the latter is
replaced by the Consumer Price Index at constant taxes without unprocessed foods or energy products; and the
prime economic regimen can be based only on the option of a regulated tariff (with the pool+premium option
eliminated).

This regulation enter uncertainties with regard to the development of new plants in Spain as the suspension
period is undetermined, and the impact on earnings by the tax measures adopted in this year.

Exchange rafe-

While the majority of the Group’s sales are made in the European market, revenues from sales of cellulose pulp
are affected by the USD/EUR exchange rate, because the benchmark sale price on the international market is in
USD per ton. Insofar as the Group’s cost structure is mainly in euros, changes in the dollar exchange rate can
have a significant impact ocn eamings volatility.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group’s policy is to lock in the exchange rate in parallel with its management of
the risks inherent in the evolution of cellulose pulp prices. Accordingly, it continuously assesses the possibility of
using exchange rate hedges for foreseeable future sales (see Note 10).

A 5% apprediation in the dollar would increase the Group's revenues befare hedges, by approximately 3.6%.
Credit risk-

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of outstanding balances receivable from customers. This risk is
mitigated mainly by arranging credit insurance policies, which assign credit limits based on credit quality as
determined by the insurer and provide cover for between 75% and 90% of trade receivables associated with sales
of celluiose pulp.

Provision is made for overdue balances where there is evidence of impairment, and for al receivables overdue by
more than 6-12 months that are not covered by credit insurance policies.

Revenues associated with the electricity generating business are obtained from the electricity system, which is
backed by the Spanish state.

Liguidity - Asset Management Risk

Exposure to adverse situations in the debt and capital markets can hinder or prevent the Group from covering
financial needs related with operations and the future Business Plan.

This is one of the risks that is most closely tracked by the Ence Group, and a series of key financial objectives has
been established by the Group: 1) to assure the continuity of operations in any celiulose price environment, 2) to
support the capacity for growth of the businesses conducted by maintaining a sound capital structure and an
appropriate level of liquidity; and 3) to keep net indebtedness at levels that do not exceed the gross operating
profit generated by more than 2.5 times, based on the average cellulose pulp price for the cycle.

This risk is managed by following the schedule of financial debt, proactive management and maintenance of lines
of credit and other forms of financing that hedge projected treasury needs.

As part of this financial policy, Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. has projected refinancing its corporate debt with
maturity in 2014. Therefore on 1 February 2013 the Parent Company completed the process of offering to
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qualified instifutional investors, a bonds issue in the amount of EUR 250 million maturing in 2020 (see Note 26), to
be used mainly to repay the current syndicated loan.

The information necessary for the analysis of the maturities of the financial liabilities referred fo in IFRS 7 is
provided in Notes 10 and 16 below.

Interest rate risk-

This risk arises from exposure to changes in the interest rates of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities,
which can have an adverse impact on the income statement and on cash flows.

The objective of interest rate risk management is to achieve a balance in the debt structure to minimise the cost of
debt over a time horizon of several years with low volatility in the consolidated income statement. The hedging
instruments contracted are assigned to specific financial operations, and the derivatives are appropriately aligned
with the timing and amount of the financing concerned.

At 31 December 2012 the Group held hedging instruments covering most financial debt contracted at floating
rates of interest. The corporate debt refinancing indicated above contracted at a fixed rate of 7.25% minimised
interest rate risk.

6. Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Fiscaf Year 2012
Transfer to
Held

Balance at  Additions or Retiretnents  Exchange FEZSS::;G Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Cglf %‘;ffr ordisposals  Differences  (Note 20)  31/12/2012
Computer software 14,361 - (110} 3) 110 14,358
Emission rights 5,253 16,598 (5,830) - - 16,021
Other intangible assets (¥) 10,405 3,570 (1,192) 1 1,420 14,204
Total cost 30,019 20,168 (7,132) 2) 1,530 44,583
Computer software (13,744) (221) 110 1 (110) (13,9064)
Other intangible assets (¥) (8,148) (756) 1,192 - (1,351) (9,063)
Total amortisation (21,892) ©77) 1,302 1 (LA61)  (23,027)
Total 8,127 21,556

(*} Mainly comprising development costs
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Fiscal Year 2011

Transfer to

Held

Balance at  Additions or Retirements Transfers — Exchange FXZSS;?;C Balance at

Thousands of Buros 01/01/201 1 Ct};ff;affr ordisposals (Note7) Differences  (Note20)  31/12/2011
Computer software 14,329 144 - - (2} (110) 14,361
Emission rights 2,544 9,099 (6,390) - - - 5,253
Other intangible assets () 11,867 291 (16) (317) - (1,420) 10,405
Total cost 28,740 9,534 (6,406) (3t7) ) (1,530) 30,019
Computer software (13,532) (319) - - 3) 110 (13,744)
Other intangible assets (¥) (8,674) (941) 15 101 - 1,351 (8,148)
Total amortiisation (22,206) (£,260) 15 101 3) 1,461 (21,892)
Total 6,534 8,127

(*) Mainly comprising development costs
Additions and disposals-

The Group in fiscal year 2012 acquired Foresta Capital, S.L. and Foresta Mantenimiento Plantaciones, S.L.,
companies linked by common shareholders (see Note 24), as well as intangible knowledge, experiences and
techniques that optimise energy crops and the in vitro reproduction of eucalyptus, and also a clone of the Populus
Deltoides species. The companies were acquired for an initial payment of approximately EUR 3.5 million, and
deferred payments for an additional EUR 3 million, if and when a series of conditions were met, including raising
the moratorium on the special economic regimen for biomass electricity generation, established in Royal Decree
Law 17/2012 of 27 January, or investment in energy generation plants outside of Spain with a minimum power of
70 MW. This agreement includes a purchaser's right for an option, exercisable within six months after the lifting of
the moratorim and for the market value of such assets at the time of its acquisition, to buy determined electricity
production projects currently being promoted by the sellers.

The Group has also annually received, free of charge, greenhouse gas emissions rights under the National
Assignment Plan 2008-2012, for 657,970 tons of COZ per year. in 2012 the Group used 92,368 tons of CO2
assighed fo it as well as remainders from previous years, to redeem the rights consumed in the previous year
(278,121 tons in fiscal year 2011). The 565,602 tons of CO2 remaining for 2012 (379,849 tons in 2011) are
registered in the section “Emission Rights”, in the amount of EUR 3.535 million (EUR 5.253 million at 31
[ecember 2011).

On 3 June 2008 the Group executed a contract selling greenhouse gas emission rights received free of charge in
2008, equivalent to 657,970 tons of CO2, and also executed an agreement to purchase emission rights for
506,202 tons of CO2 at a mean price of EUR 24.6. This purchase that took place in December 2012, represented
an investment of EUR 12.486 million.

In fiscal year 2011 the Group also executed various emission rights purchase commitments for a total of 601,000
tons of CO2 at an average price of EUR 14.85 maturing in 2012. These agreements were later amended to
mature in 2013, at a price of EUR 15.37 per ton. The purpose is to hedge future consumption of emission rights
by the Group.

The “Provisions” section of the long term liabilities balance sheet at 31 December 2013 shows EUR 3.015 million
(EUR 5.845 million at 31 December 2011} corresponding to liabilities from 2012 and 2011 consumption of
481,609 tons of CO2 and 472,217 tons of CO2, respectively (see Note 15).

Fully amortised intangible assets-
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At 31 December 2012 and 2011, fully amortised intangible assets, mainly consisting of development costs and
computer software, totalled EUR 16,711 thousand and EUR 15,659 thousand, respectively.

7. Property, plant and equipment

Changes in the property, plant and equipment carried in the consolidated balance sheet and the related
accumulated depreciation in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012

Transfer
to/from
Held
Balance at  Additionsor  Retirements Exchange Fzzsi?le Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Ctl;ﬁ:.‘i(;jfr or disposals  Transfers  Differences (Note 20) 31/12/2012
Forest fand 154,317 4 (69) - {560) (28,422) 123,270
Other land 6,377 250 - - G (251) 6,372
Buildings 138,977 51 (2) 2,300 {60) (3,080) 138,186
Plant and machinery 1,020,297 592 (3,422) 14,602 {70) 988 1,032,987
Other items of property, plant and 30,652 600 {1,186) 1,494 21 1,068 32,607
equipment
Advances and non-current assets 123,380 85,401 (433) {18,396) (3) (132) 189,817
under construction
Cost 1,474,000 86,898 (5,112) - {718) (29,829) 1,525,239

Buildings (77.854) (4,041) 2 13 14 880 (80,986)
Plant and machinery (596,277) (47,496) 657 37 50 (1,098) (644,201)
Other items of property, plant and (18,570) (1,627) 1,167 24 3 (81%8) (19,821)
equipment

Amortisation (692,701) (53,164) 1,826 - 67 (1,036) (745,008)
Land and buildings (4,984) (21) 3,000 . - - (2,005)
Plant and machinery (6,173) (164) 4,005 - - (1.532) (3.864)
Other items of property, plant and - (183) - - - - (183)
equipment

Impairments (11,157) (368) 7,005 - - (1,532) {6,052)

Total 770,142 774,179
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Fiscal Year 2011

Transfer to
Held
Balanceat  Additionsor  Retirements Transfers Exchange FX;SSC?;C Balance at

Thousands of Buros 01/0%/2011 Ctl;ir%eeaffr or disposals {Note 6) Differences (Note 20} 31/12/2011
Forest land 153,510 477 - - 324 - 154,317
Other land 7,598 - (1,212} - {9 - 6,377
Buildings 145,081 448 (8,283) 1,793 (34} (28) 138,977
Plant and machinery 1,001,898 7,512 {2,363) 18,609 109 (5,468) 1,020,297
Other items of property, plant and 28,989 1,659 (1,498 2,643 2) (1,139) 30,652
cquipment
Advances and non-current assets 80,320 66,059 (263) (22,728) (%) (3) 123,380
under construction

Cost 1,417,402 76,155 (13,619) 317 383 (6,638) 1,474,000
Buildings (74,080} (4,442) 660 1 {11 i8 (77,854)
Plant and machinery (548,988) {48,090) (2,860) (60) (55) 3,776 (596,277}
Other items of property, plant and (22,510) (1,144) 4,236 {41 (2) 891 {18,570)
equipment

Amortisation (645,578) (53,676) 2,036 (100) (68) 4,685 (692,701)

Land and buildings {13,289) - 8,305 - - - (4,984)
Plant and machinery {11,395) (819) 4,509 (1) - 1,533 (6,173)

Total 747,140 770,142

Addifions-

The Group has made investments at all of its facilities to improve the efficiency of the paper pulp production
process, optimise electricity generaling and improve environmental protection. This is broken down as follows:

Thousands of Euros

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Navia 6,212 11,321
Huelva 14,262 8,789
Huelva — 50 Mw plant 38,407 42 600
Pontevedra 4,347 6,224
Merida — 20 Mw plant 20,513 -
Other (*) 3,157 7,221

86,808 76,155

(*} Includes mainly investments in irrigation eguipment for plantations of energy crops and capitalised
costs incurred in the development of energy projects.

On 1 August 2012, the Group, through affiliate Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U. concluded a turnkey
construction contract for a biomass renewable energy generating plant with installed capacity of 20 megawatts.
The plant will be located in Merida (Badajoz), and start up operations in fourth quarter 2014, Projected investment
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in the project is EUR 80.7 million, of which EUR 60.7 million will be financed by a bank syndicate through a
“Project Finance” (See Note 16). Accumulated investment at 31 December 2012 comes to EUR 20.5 milfion.

On 21 June 2011, the Ence Group concluded a turnkey construction contract for a biomass renewable energy
generating plant with install capacity of 50 megawatts via the subsidiary, Ence Energia Huelva, S.A.U. The plant
will be located in Group installations in Huelva, and start up operations in the first quarter of 2013. Projected
investment in the project is EUR 146.6 million, of which EUR 101.3 are financed by a bank syndicate through a
“Project Finance” {See Note 16). The cumulative investment made at 31 December 2012 was EUR 138.1 million,
of which EUR 38.4 million were invested in 2012 and EUR 42.6 million in 2011.

The Group capitalised finance costs totalling EUR 5,670 thousand incurred in 2011, basically in respect of project
finance indebtedness (EUR 2,678 thousand at 31 December 2011).

The Group likewise at 31 December 2012 has investment commitments for material assets for EUR 17,327
thousand, that will mostly be developed in 2013.

Retirements and disposals-

On 11 September 2011 the Group sold certain land in Uruguay owned by Sociedad Zona Franca de M'Bopicta,
S.A. for a total of USD 5 miliion (EUR 3,741 thousand). This transaction generated a profit of EUR 2,680
thousand, which was recognised in the accompanying consolidated income statement under “Impairment and
gains or losses on disposals of non-current assets”.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment-

At 31 December 2012 and 2011 the Group had fully depreciated items of property, plant and equipment still in
use as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Buildings 42,066 41,945
Machinery 397,860 374,196
Equipment and tools 396 473
Furniture 1,559 2,251
Other 10,935 10,197
452,816 429,062

Grant of public land-

The maritime-terrestrial concession of the land on which the Pontevedra factory is located was awarded to the
Parent Company by Ministerial Order of 13 June 1958. The concession deed did not establish any fixed term, but
Article 66 of the subsequent Coasts Law established a maxmum term of 30 years for mariime-terrestrial
concessions of public domain. In accordance with Transitional Provision 14.3 of the Coasts Regulations,
moteover, the holders of concessions granted prior to the entry into force of the Coasts Law (as in the present
case) should understand that the same “are granted for a maximum period of thirty years as from the entry into
force of the Coasts Law", whatever the term established in the concession deed (the Law came into force on 29
July 1988, and the concession will therefore expire on 29 July 2018). The carrying amount of all assets
associated with fand at 31 December 2012 was EUR 71,865 thousand {(EUR 80,839 thousand at 31 December
2011).

The Bill for the Coastal Protection and Sustainable Use act and Amendment of Law 22/1988 of 28 July on Coasls
was published in the Official Gazette of the General Courts/Chamber of Deputies on 19 Qctober 2012. The
changes to the Coasts Law proposed includes the possibility of extending grants of maritime-terrestral public
domain issued prior to the amendment — as in the case of Ence in Ponfevedra — up to 75 years.
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On 19 May 20112, the Administrative Disputes bench of the Spanish High Court issued a ruling on the appeal
filed by the Association, “Salvemos Pontevedra”. This judgment did not enter into the merits of the case, and it
therefore did not find that ENCE had breached any of the terms of the concession, as the claimant Association
had sought. Rather, the Court confined itself to ordering the Administration to open proceedings in connection
with the expiration of the concession and the adoption of legal measures to haif activity and the use and operation
of the facility. This judgment does not prejudge the outcome of these proceedings which would, where applicable,
be conducted as a full administrative process leading to a final decision that would be open to appeal in the
administrative disputes jurisdiction. Both the Administration and ENCE have appealed against the judgment,
which is not enforceable while the appeal proceedings continue.

Revaluations-

As of 1 January 2004, the date of fransition to EU-IFRS, forest land was revalued at fair value. The fair value was
determined by specialist independent appraisers and is considered fo be a reference historical cost as permitted
by International Accounting Standards. The revaluation surplus of EUR 54,882 thousand, net of deferred tax
liabilities totalling EUR 23,498 thousand, was recognised in net equity under "Valuation adjustments”. This market
value is treated as the historical cost reference at subsequent dates.

Law 16/2012 of 27 December which adopts various tax measures that consolidate public finances and drive
economic activity, contemplates the possibility of voluntarily accepting the restatement of values regulated by that
provision.

Taxpayers subject to the fiscal consolidation regimen under the provisions of Chapter Vii of Title VI of the
Consolidated Corporate Tax Law, approved by Legislative Royal Decree 4/2004 of 5 March, would carry out the
update operations in the individual regimen.

Parent Company Directors are currently evaluating said Law 16/2012 and its potential implications and
accounting and fiscal impacts. As of the date of preparation of those consclidated annual reports no decision had
been made.

Insurance and other matters-

The Group arranges insurance policies {o cover the possible risks to which its property, plant and equipment are
exposed. The Parent Company's directors consider that the insurance cover for these risks is adequate at 31
December 2012,

Assets located outside Spain, mainly in Uruguay, amounted to EUR 39,991 thousand at 31 December 2012 (EUR
37,928 thousand at 31 December 2011). These are mostly classified as held for sale in the seclion "Non-current
assets held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 20).

Biological assets

Biological assets comprise basically the Group's standing timber (forest land owned by the Group is presented in
“Property, plant and equipment — forest [and”), as follows:

Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Standing timber- Iberian Peninsula 125,655 124,154
Standing timber- Urugunay - 19,294
Standing timber — Energy crops 44 622 36,366
Other standing crops- Iberian Peninsula 681 772
170,958 180,586

Changes in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
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Fiscal Year 2012

Transfer to
Thousands of Euros Balance at Ag}?;:ioeniocr)r Transfers Exchange P}\éillz?ele Balance at
01/01/12 o ;‘fear differences  (Note 20) 31/12/12
For use as cellulose:
Forest [and 236,480 11,264 (111} (483} (26,083) 221,067
Forestry reserve depletion (91,690} (6,268) - 109 5,582 (92,267)
Impairments (570) (533) (1,361) - . (2,464)
144,220 4,463 (1,472) (374) (20,501) 126,336
For use as energy crops:
Forest land 36,907 11,267 {699) - - 47,475
Forestry reserve depletion (14) (2,839 - - - (2,853)
Impairments (327) - 527 - - -
36,366 9,678 (172) - - 44,622
180,586 170,958
Fiscal Year 2011
Thousands of Euros ]5;)2111?51;61 ilt %Sig::n;o?‘r Transfers £§f§?§§§; E;T?lrg ;i ?t
the year
For use as cellulose:
Forest land 243,474 14,407 (20,216) (1,185) 236,480
Forestry reserve depletion {82,937) (8,621) - {(132) (91,690)
Impairments - ' (570) - - (570)
166,537 5,216 (20,210) (1,317) 144,220
For use as energy crops:
Forest land 6,177 10,514 20,216 - 36,907
Forestry reserve depletion - (14) - - (14)
Impairments (527) - - - (527
5,650 10,500 20,216 - 36,366
166,187 180,586 |

The Group planted 4,452 hectares and 6,664 hectares respectively in 2011 and 2012, and carried out i
conservation and forestry work on a further 47,125 ha. And 55,481 hectares, respectively. ‘

Details of standing timber at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:
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Fiscal Year 2012
Iberian Peninsuia
Pulp Energy crops (*)
Hectares T;l; EISEESS Hectares T(l)lfo Eiiggs
Years Productive Carrying Productive Carrying
Age land (Ha.) Amount land (Ha.) Amount
> 17 1,010 1,490 - -
16 28 33 - -
i5 170 841 20 30
14 622 1,569 2 2
13 1,227 4,153 154 485
12 1,399 5,231 1,199 2,284
11 2,516 8,073 173 346
10 2,631 6,729 398 331
5 2,622 6,018 15 13
8 2,919 9,263 145 279
7 6,578 21,843 1,633 5,126
6 5,133 15,686 736 2,746
5 4,209 10,233 1,731 4,290
4 4,915 10,510 827 2,692
3 5,225 11,765 926 3,204
2 4,708 8,170 1,792 5,785
1 3,233 3,794 3,138 9,502
0 2,276 2,396 3,625 6,886
Impairment - (2,464) - -
Deferred costs - 1,003 - 561
51,423 126,336 16,516 44,622

(*) Part of the biological assets to be used as “Energy crops” come from changes in use
of crops to be used for celiulose.
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Fiscal Year 2011

Tberian Peninsula

Puip Energy crops Uruguay (Note 20)

Hectares T(l)llf’ gi?ggs Hectares Tcl?fo Ei?’ggs Hectares Tho}gie;i;ls of

Years Productive Carrying Productive Carrying Productive Carrying

Age land (Ha.) Amount land (Ha.) Amount land (Ha.) Amount
> 17 1,002 1,598 - - 180 288
16 254 336 1 3 - -
15 62 41 21 19 5 9
14 363 1,934 2 - 51 74
13 707 2,125 156 457 98 147
12 1,493 5,311 1,214 2,073 69 105
11 1,926 6,860 183 324 324 456
i0 2,655 9,553 398 262 1,390 1,967
9 2,864 6,397 54 10 537 086
8 2,642 5,808 168 220 201 324
7 3,040 9,195 1,733 4,982 654 1,068
6 6,762 20,910 732 2,395 1,662 1,827
5 5,213 14,979 1,832 5,004 2,410 3,153
4 4,280 8,862 741 1,930 2,027 2,560
3 4,902 10,221 1,025 3,610 344 1,097
2 5,748 11,037 893 1,927 1,353 2,194
] 4,586 6,948 3,247 6,756 1,622 1,551
0 3,253 3,009 4,552 5,154 3,009 1,788
Impairment - (570) - (327 “ -
Deferred costs - 772 - 2,277 - -
51,812 124,926 16,892 36,366 16,436 19,294

The Group capitalised forestry plantation and maintenance costs in fiscal year 2012, corresponding to services
received, in the amount of EUR 21,042 thousand (EUR 22,346 thousand in 2011).

A total of EUR 1,489 thousand for financial costs was capitalised in 2012 (EUR 2,575 thousand in 2011}, and are
discounted from the section "Other financial costs" in the consolidated profit and loss statement.

.  Leases

At 2012 year end the Group had contracted the following lease instalments with certain lessors under leases
currently in force, not including common expenses, fulure increases for inflation or future contractual rent rises:
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Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Less than one year 5,371 3,545
Between one and five years 21,610 8,690
Over five years 29,194 22,301
56,175 34,536

The Group leased 28,256 hectares of forest land in 2012 (28,419 ha. in 2011) for the cultivation of standing
timber. These leases have an average term of 30 years.

10. Derivative financial instruments

In accordance with the risk management policy described in Note 5, the Group contracts derivatives to hedge
risks arising from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, cellulose pulp prices, and the prices of gas, fuel off
and electricity used in the production process.

The most commeoenly used derivatives are interest rate swaps. The exchange rate derivatives and instruments
contracted to hedge fluctuations in the prices of cellllose pulp and energy produicts consist mainly of swaps and
futures.

The Group classifies derivatives in three categories:

1. Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges: these are used mainly to hedge cash flows, interest payments,
collections and payments in foreign currencies, efc.

2. Derivatives designated as fair value hedges: these are used to hedge the fair values of assets and liabilities
carried in the consclidated balance sheet.

3. Other derivatives: these comprise insfruments that are not designated hedges or that do not meet the
requirements established by the appropriate accounting standards to qualify for hedge accounting.

All financial instruments were measured after initial recognition with reference to observable market data, whether
directly (i.e. via prices) or indirectly (i.e. via price derivatives).

Details of the derivatives carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Non-Current

Current Assets e i Current Liabilities
Liabilities

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings - - - 18,851 10,164 -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawatts - - 8,134 6,615 2,365 -
TR Swap - Project finance, 20 megawatts - - 1,518 - 330 -
Equity Swap - - 6,975 - 2,027 12,386
Exchange rate hedges 10,721 - - - - 22,224
Pulp price hedges - 867 - - - -

Total 10,721 867 16,627 25,466 14,886 34,610
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Exchange rate hedges-

in order to hedge the risks to which the Group is exposed due io fluctuations in the USD/Euro exchange rate,
which can have a material impact on the sale price of cellulose pulp and on a significant part of purchases, the
Parent Company proceeded to make forward sales of US dollars to hedge future revenues. The notional amount
of these hedges at 31 December 2012 and 2011 was 222 million dollars at a mean exchange rate of 1.24
USD/EUR and 516 million dollars at 1.38 USD/EUR, respectively. These contracts meet the requirements
established in the relevant accounting standards to qualify as effective hedges.

The market value of these instruments at 31 December 2012 was positive by EUR 10,721 thousand, which was
recognised in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet under “Current liabilities — Derivatives” with an
equivalent entry, net of the tax effect, in "Equity — Valuation adjustments”.

“Gains or losses on hedging operations” in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2012 includes a
toss of EUR 26,381 thousand in respect of hedges settled during the reporting period (EUR 22,224 thousand in
2011).

Considering the contract conditions at 31 December 2012, a 5% gain in the eurc would have a positive impact of
EUR 7,973 thousand on the consolidate profit/loss for 2013. A 5% depreciation of the euro on the other hand
would give a negative impact of EUR 8,801 thousand on the consolidated results for 2013.

Pulp price hedges-

in order to hedge the risks to which the Group is exposed due to fluctuations in BHKP pulp prices, which have a
significant impact on the amount of cellulose sales, the Parent Company arranged BHKP pulp price swaps in
2011 maturing in 2012 in order to hedge sales revenues. Notional amounts of those hedges at 31 December
2011 came to 48 thousand tons of pulp. These contracts meet the requirements established in the relevant
accounting standards fo qualify as effective hedges.

These instruments were recognised at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Group
had no wood price hedge agreement aft 31 December 2012. The fair value of these financial assets at 31
December 2011 was posifive by EUR 867 thousand, which was recognised in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet under "Current assets ~ Derivatives” with an equivalent enfry, net of the tax effect, in “Equity —
Valuation adjustments”.

"Gains or losses on hedging operations” in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2012 includes a
loss of EUR 1,186 thousand in respect of hedges settled during the reporting period (EUR 10,899 thousand in
2011).

Other hedges-

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of certain energy products consumed in the production
process, which can significantly affect production costs. This risk is partially hedged using commodity swaps,
which comply with hedge accounfing requirements.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Group had no contracts in force to hedge the price of electricity or fuel oil.

Interest Rate Swap-

The Group hedges the interest rate risk inherent in euro-denominated long-term floating rate financial liabilities
using interest rate swaps.

The purpose of these hedges is to neutralise fluctuations in cash oulflows associated with floating interest rates
(Euribor) on the Group’s borrowings.

The Group uses the discounted cash flows method to determine the fair value of interest rate derivatives,
basically fixed rate swaps, based on implicit values determined by the Euribor interest rate curve according to
market conditions at the measurement date.
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The interest rate derivatives contracted by the Group outstanding at 31 December 2012 and 2011 and their
negative fair values at the reporting dates were as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012
Fair Notional amount at the end of
Thousands of Euros Value 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings 10,164 194,498 - - - - - -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawatts 10,499 75,982 74,874 69,933 63,997 57,502 50,584 43,563
IR Swap - Project finance, 20 megawatts 1,848 15,028 34,334 44,908 42036 38,981 35,928 32,685
Fiscal Year 2011
Fair Notional amount at the end of
Thousands of Euros Value 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings 18,851 232,298 194,498 - - - - - -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawaits 6,615 47,641 75,982 74,874 69,933 63,997 57,502 50,584 43,563 1

An analysis of the Group's liquidity for interest rate derivatives prepared from undiscounted net cash flows is as

follows:
Thousands of Euros
_ 3 Months - 1 1-3 Over 5
Less than 1 Month  1-3 Months Year Years years
IR Swap — Corporate borrowings - 2,734 7,447 - -
IR Swap - Project finance, 50 megawatts - - 2,371 6,992 1,333
IR Swap - Project finance, 20 megawatts - - 330 1,883 (380)

On 29 May 2008 the Parent Company contracted an interest rate swap to hedge approximately 60% of its
corporate financing paid out at that time. This debt changed substantially in 2009, with the result that the interest
rate swap ceased to qualify for hedge accounting on 16 Cctober 2009. Since that date, changes in the value of
this instrument have been recognised through the consolidated income statement for the year. A gain of EUR
8,687 thousand (EUR 8,267 thousand in 2011). was recognised in the consolidated income statement under
“Changes in fair value of financial instruments” in respect of the change in the value of the interest rate swap.

The part of the value of the hedging instrument associated with the hedged item, which was recognised in
consalidated equity for a total of EUR 1,075 thousand hefore the tax effect (EUR 3,120 thousand in 2011), will be
recognised prospectively through the consolidated income statement until 2013, the period in which the hedged
item will affect the Group’s results, as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011 l
I
Fiscal Year 2012 - 2,045 !
Fiscal Year 2013 1,075 1,073 k
1,075 3,120
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The IRSs associated with financing arrangement for the Huelva 50 MW and Merida 20 MW projects meets the
requirements established to quality as an effective hedge.

Based on the contractual terms and conditions prevailing at 31 December 2012, a 10% increase in the Euribor
interest rate curve would have a positive impact of EUR 87 thousand on the consolidated earnings for 2013. in
contrast, a 10% decline in the Euribor interest rate curve would have a negative impact on consolidated earnings
for 2013.

Equity swap-

On 25 October 2007, the Parent Company arranged an equity swap with Bankia, as one of the requirements
established in the terms and conditions of the Special Variable Executive Compensation Plan made on that date.
On 18 June 2008 that confract was terminated a new contract executed with similar terms, although adapting the
annual price to the changes in the Company's listed share prices. The equity swap was renewed for a second
time on 14 October 2010 to bring it into line with the modification made to the Long-Term Incentives Plan (see
Note 4-0). .

The aforementioned equity swap was contracted for a total of 5,100,000 shares of the Parent Company at a base
price of EUR 4.11 per share. The benchmark interest rate for this instrument is Euribor at 12 months plus an
additional spread of 0.05% settled annually. Initial maturity is scheduled for 30 June 2012. There is no share buy-
back agreement, and there is an express mention that the shares will not return to the Group. Any shares
remaining at the end of the 5-year period will be placed directly in the market by Bankia, thereby ensuring that
they do not have to be recognised as treasury shares.

This instrument does not meet the criteria to qualify as a hedging instrument, and changes in fair value must
therefore be recognised in the consolidated income statement as they occur. The fair value of the equity swap is
calculated based on the discounted cash fiows of the share component (present value of dividends plus the final
share price, less EUR 4.11) and the discounted cash flows generated by the accrual of interest.

On 28 June 2012 the Parent Company novated the instrument so that it acts as a hedge for the "Ence Energia y
Celulosa S.A. Long Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015". This modification, based on 3,850,000 shares extends
maturity to 15 December 2012 for 1,025,000 shares, to 15 December 2013 for 1,025,000 shares, and to 15 March
2015 for 1,800,000 shares; and establishes a benchmark interest rate of Euribor 6 months plus 2.30%.
Liguidation of the remaining 1,250,000 shares represented a loss of EUR 3,225 thousand, and is recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet under “Variation on fair value of financial instruments”.

The fair value of the equity swap was negative EUR 9,002 thousand at closing 31 December 2012(EUR 12,386 at
31 December 2011). This amount has been recognised as a current and non-current liability under “Derivatives”
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, according to its maturity.

A 10% rise in the Parent Company’s share price would have a positive impact of EUR 785 thousand on
consolidated earnings for 2013. In contrast, a 10% fall in the Parent Company’s share price would have a
negative impact for the same amount on the consolidated earnings for 2013.

. Inventories

The detail of the Group's inventories at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
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There no restrictions on the disposability of inventories. The Group arranges insurance policies to cover the
possible risks to which its inventories are exposed. The directors consider that the cover arranged for these risks

Thousands of Euros

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Wood 48,555 70,759
Other raw materials 3,995 4,921
Spare parts 23,878 22,889
Work in progress 1,383 -
Products in progress 441 441
Finished goods 17,597 17,601
Advances to suppliers 1,069 3,396
Impairments (*) (9,343) (7,545)
87.575 112,462

(*) Mainly related to spare parts.

is adequate at 31 December 2012 and 2011.

The Group has contracts executed with suppliers and agreements with producer associations for the acquisition
of 174 thousand tons of eucalyptus fo be used in paste production and 698 thousand tons of forestry waste for

energy generation.

12. Trade and other accounts receivable [ payable

“Trade and other receivables” carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as

foliows:

“Trade receivables for sales” includes delinguent balances unimpaired and not covered by credit insurance (see
Note 5) in the amount of EUR 2,710 thousand, mostly with a maturity of less than 180 days.

Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Trade receivables for sales 138,339 120,471
Sundry accounts receivable 4,854 5,392
Employee receivables 16 256
Impairmenis {4,629) (3,330)
138,580 122,789

The average collection period on sales of cellulose pulp is between 55 and 85 days.

“Trade and other payables” carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as

follows:

Thousands of Euros 31/12/2612  31/12/2011
Trade payables 177479 162,144
Suppliers of non-current assets 16,088 12,408
Remuneration payable 8,335 7,412

201,902 181,964
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The average payment period for purchases of goods and services is beiween 65 and 75 days. The fair value of

accounts receivable and payable does not differ materially from their carrying amounts.

At 31 December 2012 the Group had receivables and payables in dollars for EUR 27,549 thousand and EUR

6,512 thousand respectively.

The Group has entered info various no-recourse confirming arrangements with an available limit and amount paid
out of EUR 83,500 thousand and EUR 62,806 thousand respectively at 31 December 2012 (EUR 73,700

thousand limit and EUR 54,239 thousand had been utilised at 31 December 2011).

Law 15/2010, of 5 July, on measures to combat default in commercial transactions, establishes certain disclosure
requiremerts with regard to the operations carried out by companies. The breakdown of payments for trade
operations in 2012 and 2011 pending payment at closing, excluding operations between Group companies and

those corresponding to payments to suppliers of non-current assets, is as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012

Fiscal Year 2011

Thousands of Thousands of
% %
Euros Euros
Pay_ments m.ade within the maximum 469,013 30 559,315 04%
period permitted by law
Other 56,274 11% 32,841 6%
Total payments made in the year 525,287 100% 592,156 100%
Weighted average past due payments 3275 i 23 98 )
(days)
Deferrals which at the closing date
extended beyond the maximum legal 6,179 - 7,298 -

period at the year-end (*)

13. Equity

Share capital

The share capital of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. at 31 December 2012 was represented by 250,272,500 fully
subscribed and paid bearer shares with a par value of EUR 0.9 each. The shareholders at 31 December 2012

and 2011 were as follows:
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Percentage 31/12/2012 31/12/2011
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. 24.5 222
Alcor Holding, S.A. 21.9 20.4
Liberbank, S.A. 6.9 6.3
Fidalser, S.L. - 5.0
Treasury shares 1.5 7.8
Free Float 392 383
TFotal 100.0 100.0

The Parent Company's shares are listed on the Madrid Stock Exchange. All shares have the same voting and
profit-sharing rights.

Legal reserve-

In accordance with the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporations Law, 10% of net profit for each year must
be transferred to the legal reserve until the balance thereon reaches at least 20% of share capital.

The legal reserve can be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance does not fali below
10% of the increased share capital amount. Otherwise, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can
only be used to offset losses, provided that sufficient other reserves are not available for this purpose.

Share premium-

The Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporations expressly allows use of the balance on the share premium
account to increase share capital, and it does not establish any specific restrictions on disposal.

Reserves in fully consolidated companies-

A breakdown of “Equity — Reserves in fully consolidated companies” by companies at 31 December 2012 and
2011 is as follows:
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Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U. 45,426 45,079
Celulosa Energia, S.L.U. 43,879 36,560
Norte Forestal, S.A.U. 17,054 13,314
Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U. 8,516 7,809
Iberflorestal , S.A.U., 2,204 1,941
Thersilva, S.A.U. (18,059) (7,028)
Norfor Maderas, S.A.U. 480 450
Eucalipto de Pontevedra, S.A.U. (1,987) (1,976)
Flectricidad de Navia Asturias, S.L.U. 2,839 2,845
Maderas Aserradas del Litoral, S.A. (2,721) (927)
Celulosas de M’Bopicud, S.A. (129) (73)
Zona Franca M’Bopicus, 5.A. 2,895 72
Las Pléyades de Urugnay, S.A. (59 (83)
Las Pléyades, S.A. (SAFI) 2,026 1,742
Las Pléyades Argentina (176) (93)
Sierras Calmas, S.A. 5,627 1,428
Ence Energia, S.1.U. (803) (420)
Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. {658) -
Consolidation adjustments 6,186 1,814
112,543 102,454

Restricted reserves in consolidated companies totalted EUR 14,979 thousand at 31 December 2012 (EUR 14,599
thousand at 31 December 2011), basically comprising the legal reserves of the Group companies.

Dividends

At the Annual General Meeting of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. held on 26 April 2012 the shareholders
approved the distribution of dividends totalling EUR 16,514,432, representing a gross EUR 0.07 per share, out of
the profit for 2011. The dividend was paid on 8 May 2012.

That Meeting of Shareholders likewise ordered a distribution in kind of part of the share issue premium through
the delivery of Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. treasury shares at 1 share for each 26 shares in circulation. Almost
9,052,679 shares of the Parent Company were delivered, with a market value at the time of the resolution of EUR
14,484 thousand and an average acquisition cost of EUR 21,173 thousand.

The Extraordinary Meeting of Shareholders of the Parent Company on 24 July 2012 approved a capital reduction
of EUR 6,966,351 through the amortization of 7,740,390 treasury shares, as well as the distribution in kind of the
share issue premium with the delivery of Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. treasury shares to sharcholders at the
rate of 1 share for every 37 shares in circulation. A total of 6,502,173 treasury shares of the Parent Company
were distributed, with a market value at the time of the resolution of EUR 9,623 thousand and an average
acquisition cost of EUR 14,020 thousand. The Board of Directors with the authorization of the Extraordinary
General Meeting held 24 July 2012, approved a Share Buyback Program designed to remunerate shareholders
through the iater reduction in corporate capital. Buyback Program have the following characteristics: 1) the Share
Buyback Program will continue until 30 June 2013; 2} shares will be purchased at market price according to price
and volume conditions established in Article 5 of EC Regulation 2273/2003 and the Company's Internal Code of
conduct for Securities Markets; and 3) the maximum number of treasury shares that can be acquired under the
Buyback Program is equivalent to 5% of corporate capital. The share buyback program is simultaneous with other
Company treasury stock operations.
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Earnings per share:

The calculation of basic and diluted consolidated earnings per share at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as
follows:

Net Earnings per Share Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2011
Consolidated net profit for the year attributed to
ordinary shares (thousands of euros) 43,031 41,192
Ordinary shares in circulation at T January 258,012,890 258,012,890
Number of ordinary shares at 31 December 250,272,500 258,012,890
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 254,629,113 258,012,890
Basic earnings per share {euros) 0.16 0.16
Diluted earnings per share (euros) 0.16 0,16

Parent Company shares

Changes in "Treasury Shares — Parent Company” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in 2012 and
2011 were as follows:

Tiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2011
Number of  Thousands of Number of Thousands of
Shares Euros Shares Euros
At beginning of year 20,211,000 49,217 995,000 2,434
Purchases 22,538,848 41,596 22,067,678 53,777
Distribution in kind of treasury stock (15,554,852) (35,193) - -
Amortization (7,740,390) (16,828) - -
Sales (711,223) (1,579) (2,851,678) (6,994)
At end of year 18,743,383 37,213 20,211,000 49,217

The Parent Company at 7 December 2012 had acquired a total of 12,815,353 shares from shareholder Fidalser,
S.L., representing 5.12% of its capital, for EUR 25,246 thousand.

The Parent Company shares held as treasury stock at 31 December 2012 represented 7.5 % of share capital
(7.8% at 31 December 2011) with a total par value of EUR 16,869 thousand (EUR 18,190 thousand at 31
Becember 2011). The average purchase price was EUR 1.8455 per share. The company will keep the shares as
treasury shares untif the Board of Directors decides on a better alternative for their use in order to maximise the
creation of value for shareholders.

Valuation adjustments-

“Valuation adjustments” carried in consolidated equity comprise changes in the fair value of hedging operations
{see Note 10} and the reserve generated on the recognition of forest fand at fair value at 1 January 2004 (see
Note 7). This reserve is unrestricted.

Changes in the fair value of derivative hedging instruments in 2012 and 2011 are as follows {see Note 10):

41




Transiation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Fiscal Year 2012

Fiscal Year 2011

Fair Tax Valuation Fair Tax Valuation
Thousands of Euros Value Effect Adjustment Value Effect  Adjustment
IRSwap-corporate borrowing-
Beg. balance (3,120} ©37) (2,183) (6,748) (2,024) (4,724)
Transfer to income statement 2,045 614 1,431 3,628 1,087 2,541
Other changes in value - - - - - -
End balance (1,075) (323) (752) (3,120) (937) (2,183)
IRSwap-Project 50 Megawatts -
Beg. balance (6,615) (1,985) (4,630) - - -
Transfer to income statement 1,291 387 904 307 92 215
Other changes in value (5,175) (1,552) {3,623) (6,922) (2,077) (4,845)
End balance {10,499) (3,150) (7,349) (6,615) (1,985) (4,630)
IRSwap-Project 20 Megawatts - i
Beg. balance - - - - - -
Teansfer to income statement 16 4 12 - - -
Other changes in value {1,864) (559) (1,305) - - -
End balance {1,848) (555} (1,29%) - - -
Exchange rate-
Beg. balance (22,226) (6,667) (15,559) (2,014) (604) (1,410)
Transfer to income statement 26,381 7,914 18,467 (465) (139) (326)
Other changes in value 6,566 1,970 4,596 {19,747) (3,924) (13,823)
End balance 10,721 3,217 7,504 (22,226) (6,667) (15,559)
Pulp price-
Beg, balance 867 260 607 (2,577) {(7173) (1,804)
Transfer to income statement 1,187 356 831 11,071 3,321 7,750
Other changes in value (2,054) {616) (1,438) (7,627) (2,288) (5,339)
End balance - - - 867 260 607
Energy products
Beg. balance - - - 786 235 551
Transfer to income statement - - - 473) (142) (331)
Other changes in value - - - (313) (93) (220)
End balance - - - 0 0 0
{2,781) (811) (1,890) (31,094 (9,329) (21,765)
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14. Grants

15.

Changes in this section of the balance sheet in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Emissions

Thousands of Euros Grants Rights Total

Balance at 1/1/2011 5,958 4,002 9,960
Increase due to new grants (¥} 8615 - 8615
Emission rights granted for 2011 . 9.100 9.100
Transfer to consolidated profit and loss (1,124) (6,307) (7,431)
Balance at 31.12.11 13,449 6,795 20,244
Emission rights granted for 2012 - 4112 4.112
Transfer to consolidated profit and loss (1,243) (3,037) (4,280)
Balance at 31.12.12 12,206 7,870 20,076

(*) Net costs incurred to obtain grants

During fiscal year 2011 the Group was awarded two non-refundable grants associated with the modernization
pian for its mill in Navia (Asturias) under the measures established to correct regional economic imbalances
established by the Regional Incentives Law (Law 50/1985, of 27 December). The total obtained net of expenses
incurred to apply for the grants was EUR 8,882 thousand.

The Group has also obtained soft loans from various public entities. These loans bear interest at below-market
rates and mature in periods of up to ten years. The outstanding principal at 31 December 2012 was EUR 12,165
thousand (EUR 11,405 thousand at 31 December 2011) (see Note 17). The differential between market interest
rate and rate applied in these credits is considered as a capital grant. These loans were granted subject to certain
undertakings in relation to jobs and investment.

Non-current provisions

Changes in non-current provisions in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Emission
Thousands of Euros Liabilities Rights (Note Other Total
6)

Balance at 1/1/2011 16,069 6,619 1,145 23,833
Charge for the year 1,517 5,614 - 7.131
Amounts used (1,251) (6,388) (140) (7,779)
Balance at 31/12/201% 16,335 5,845 1,005 23,185
Charge for the year 874 3,029 - 3,903
Amounts used (7.971) (5,839) - (13,830)
Balance at 31/12/12 ' 9,238 3,015 1,005 13,258

A detail of the provision for liabilities at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as {ollows:
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Thousands of Euros 31/12/2012  31/12/2011

Provision for liabilities:

Sewage Agreement, Galicia 5,357 5,357

Ria de Pontevedra Discharge Royalty 3,140 6,365

VAT inspection, Germany, 2002-2008 67 2,858

Other 674 1,515
9,238 16,335

EUR 4,053 thousand were [quidated in 2012 for spill duties pending payment to "Aguas de Galicia” for the years
2004 to 2007.

The German Tax Administration in 2011 concluded an inspection of Grupo Ence’s handling of Value Added Tax
(VAT) in its operations in Germany for the years 2002 fo 2008. The Tax Administration as a result of that
inspection claimed quotas for EUR 12,692 thousand and interest of EUR 2,829 thousand, which were paid in
2012. Over 90% of the amounts of VAT were recovered from clients at the close of fiscal year 2012.

Emission rights comprise the expenses associated with greenhouse gas emissions during the reporting period,
which are charged to “Other operating expenses” (see Note 19.e).

Bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2011
Short Long Short Long
Term Term Term Term
Loans and credit facilities 24,588 214,579 19,346 224,169
Project finance, 50 megawatis- 1,477 83,779 - 57,256
Project finance, 20 megawatis- - 15,000 - -
Opening fee (*) 2477 (3,726) - (7.239)
Interest and other payables 520 - 1,106 -
24,108 309,632 20,452 274,186

(*).Corporate financing: EUR 1,987 thousand and EUR 4,354 thousand at 31 December 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Project finance, 50 megawatts: EUR 2,560 thousand and EUR 2,885 thousand at 31 December
2012 and 2011, respectively. Project finance, 20 megawatts: EUR 1,656 thousand at 31 December 2012.

Bank borrowings at 31 December 2012 and 2011 comprise loans, overdraft facilities and discounting facilities. A
hreakdown classified by maturity is as follows:
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Maturities
Fiscal Year 2012 - Thousands of Euros Eimit  Principal 2013 2014 2015 2016 Next
Loans and credit facilities 302,011 239,167 24,588 212,391 615 524 1,049
Project finance, 50 megawatts 101,309 85,256 1,477 5,310 6,660 7,288 64,521
Project finance 20 megawatts 60,692 15,000 - 125 952 1,012 12,911
Interest and other payables - 520 520 - - - -
Opening fee - (6203) (2477 (503)  (495) (471) (2,257)
464,012 333740 24,108 217,323 7,732 8353 76,224
Principal Maturities
Fiscal Year 2011 - Thousands of Euros Limit  Principal 2012 2013 2014 2015 Next
Loans and credit facilities 304,314 243,515 19,346 24,520 197451 624 1,574
Project finance, 50 megawatts- 101,309 57,256 - 1,477 6,588 7,914 41,277
Interest and other payables - 1,106 1,106 - - - -
Opening fee - (7,239) - (3,513) (503) (493) (2,728)

405,623 294,638 20,452 25997 204,039 8,538 42,851

The average interest charged on credit facilities and loans {except the syndicated loan and non recourse debf) in
2012 was 4.20% (4.78% in 2011).

Syndicated loan-

The Company arranged a syndicaked loan for a maximum total of EUR 176,393 thousand after the cancellation of
bilateral financing on 14 Qctober 2010, and at the same time it renewed and amended the terms of the existing
syndicated loan to establish a limit for drawings of EUR 121,229 thousand.

The syndicated loan is structured in three tranches: tranche A, which had an initial limit of EUR 112,255 thousand
{the current limit is EUR 61,817 thousand), to finance the repayment and cancellation of the bilateral loans
arranged by the Group with various financia! institutions; tranche B, which has a limit of EUR 56,928 thousand, to
cover the Group’'s working capital requirements in addition to the amount granted under tranche A; and tranche C,
which is in turn structured in two parts, the first with a limit of EUR 28,464 thousand to cover the Group's working
capital needs, and the second with a limit of EUR 29,183 thousand that will become available for utilization to
finance biomass generating projects only where the first part is fully drawn down.

This financing which accrues annual interest at Euribor with a margin of 300 basis points, has a grace period of
eighteen months, equivalent to a mean rate of 3.72% in 2012 (4.40% in 2011) and matures on 14 January 2014.

The main collateral for the syndicated loan agreement renewed in 2010 is a pledge over the shares of Silvasur
Agroforestal, S.A.U., Norte Forestal, S.A.U., and Iberflorestal Comercio e Servigos Florestais, S.A.U. The main
guarantees for the new syndicated foan consist of a second order pledge over the shares of the aforementioned
companies, the personal guarantee of the subsidiary Celulosas de Asturias, S.A. and a morigage on the
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A. production plant sited in Navia (Asturias), subject to the condition that the “Financial
Debt / EBITDA” ratio exceeds a specified limit. This guarantee is subordinate to the others.
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Both syndicated loans include cerfain covenants relating basically to compliance with certain economic and
financial ratios associated with the consolidated financial statements of the Ence Group, and prepayment of 25%
of the free cash flow generated each year in which net indebtedness with financial institutions is more than EUR
265 million. The loan agreements also establish certain restrictions, mainly related with guarantees granted to
third parties, acquisition of treasury shares, realization of recurring investments, financing of future biomass
generating projects and asset disposals.

The Group on 1 February 2013 terminated this financing in advance, as well as the guarantees granted (see Note
26).

Huelva Project finance, 50 megawatls-

On 21 June 2011 the Group arranged syndicated “Project Finance” with seven financial entities to fund a biomass
electricity generating plant {see Note 7}. That financing is total EUR101,309 thousand, amortization will begin 22
June 2013 and maturity date is 22 December 2022, This loan accrues annual inierest at Euribor with a variable
margin in the range of 3.25% - 3.75%, based on the amortization rate. The fees paid on to arrange this financing
in 2011 fotalled EUR 3,483 thousand.

This loan is backed principally by a pledge on the shares of Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. and current and future
receivables. Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. has also given undertakings in relation {o crops and stocks for the
future supply of the plant, the date it will enter service and the price applicable to the power produced when
generating operations commence, as well as the functioning and availability of the plant. These undertakings are
partially covered by warranties given to Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. by the builder of the plant.

This loan also includes certain covenants related basically with the provision of certain operational and financial
information, compliance with economic and financial rations associated with the financial statements of Ence
Energia Huelva, S.L.U., holding of a given volume of standing and cut biomass, prepayment of 50% of surplus
cash until 50% of the principal is repaid, and early payment of 25% of surplus cash until 65% of the principal is
repaid. The loan agreement also establishes certain restrictions, mainly in relation to the distribution of dividends
and the arrangement of new borrowings.

In order to hedge the risk arising as a result of the arrangement of this loan at a floating rate of interest, the Group
has entered info interest rate hedges with six of the lenders financing the project, the notional amount on which is
equal to 75% of the estimated drawings over the term of the [oan and a fixed rate of 3.47% (Note 10).

Merida Project finance, 20 megawalis-

On 1 Augusit 2012 the Group arranged syndicated "Project Finance” with three financial entities to fund a biomass
electricity generating plant (see Note 7). That financing is total EURG0,692 thousand, amortization will begin 15
December 2014 and maturity date is 15 June 2027. This loan accrues annual interest at Euribor with a variable
margin in the range of 3.5% - 4.0%, based on the amortization rate. The fees paid on to arrange this financing in
2012 totalled EUR 1,656 thousand.

This loan is backed principally by a pledge on the shares of Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U. and current and
future receivables, as well as a pledge on the Biomass Plant. Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. has also given
undertakings for different concepts; inscription in the Special Regimen Installations Registry in relation to crops
and stocks for the future supply of the plant, the date it will enter service and the price applicable to the power
produced when generating operations commence, as well as project overcosts, functioning and availability of the
plant. These undertakings are partially covered by warranties given to Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. by the
builder of the plant. '

This loan also includes certain obligations, basically supply of determined operating and financial information,
compliance with determined economic and financial ratios associated with Ence Energia Extremadura, S.L.U.
annual accounts, maintenance of a determined volume of biomass stock either standing or cut, early payment at
a floating percentage of cash ranging between 30% and 50% according to the years of financing transpired. The
loan agreement also establishes certain restrictions, mainly in relation to the distribution of dividends and the
arrangement of new borrowings.
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In order to hedge the risk arising as a result of the arrangement of this loan at a floaling rate of interest, the Group
has entered into interest rate hedges with six of the lenders financing the project, the notional amount on which is
equal to 75% of the estimated drawings over the term of the loan and a fixed rate of 2% (Note 10).

Cash and cash equivalenis-

“Cash and cash equivalents” includes cash balances held by the Group and short-term deposits at banks with
initial maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair value, and
the average return in 2012 has been 1.42% (2.35% in 2011).

Other financial assefs-

Other financial assets basically comprise deposits made to guarantee the obligations assumed under certain
financial derivative contracts (see Note 10) and in the commitments entered into for future purchases of CO2 (see
Note 6).

MNo-recourse factoring-

The Group has entered into various no-recourse confirming arrangements, under which all risks are fransferred to
the factor, with an available limit of EUR 85,000 thousand and EUR 33,520 thousand, respectively (EUR51,000
thousand and EUR35,072 thousand at 31 December 2011). The financial cost associated with the receivables
transferred is Euribor at 3 months plus a spread of 1-1.65%.

17. Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities recognised in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet consist basically of
repayable advances received from the Spanish Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Trade, normally at below-market
interest rates or even interest free, by way of aid for projects undertaken by the Group to extend and increase the
production capacity of its Huelva, Pontevedra and Navia plants, optimise its technologies and make
environmental improvements.

Maturities at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
2012 - 574
2013 1,562 1,536
2014 1,423 1,423
2015 1,403 1,169
2016 ‘ 1,149 974
2017 and thereafter 6,628 5,729
Financial discount (Note 14) (1,312)  (1,648)

10,853 9,757

These loans were measured at fair value at the time they were awarded, and the difference between the amount
of the award and fair value was recognised as a grant and is transferred to the consolidated income statement in
line with ithe depreciation of the fixed assets for which the financial aid was granted. The amount of the grant
pending recognition through the consolidated income statement at 31 December 2012 was EUR 1,312 thousand
{EUR 1,648 thousand at 31 December 2011).
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18. Tax matters

Current tax receivables and payables

Tax receivables and balances at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Thousands of Euros
31/12/12 31/12/11
Receivables Payables  Receivables Payables

Non-current items-

Deferred tax assets 30,580 - 42,653 -
Deferred tax liabilities - 31745 - 28,289
Total 30,580 31,745 42,653 28,289

Current items-

VAT balances receivable and payable 27,262 2,576 9,840 14,796
Current income tax 1,031 1,313 1,687 365
Other tax receivables and payables 1364 5.896 1,478 2,859

Total 29,657 9,785 13,005 18,020

Reconciliation of accounting profit to the taxable profit
Group companies resident in Spain for tax purposes-

Ence Energia y Celulosa S.A. is subject to the Consolidated lncome Tax Regime set forth in Chapter VI of Title
Vill of the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporations Law as the Parent Company of Group No. 149/02 which
was constituted in 2002. This special regimen is effective indefinitely except when expressly waived, and implies
the absence of preparing individual corporate income tax returns for the entities that comprise the group, which

are;

- Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U. - Ence Investigacion y Desarrolio, S.A.U.
- Celulosa Energia, S.L.U. - Electricidad de Navia Asturias, S.L.U.

- Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A. - Ibercel Celulosa, S.L.U.

- Norte Foresfal, S.A. - Enersilva, S.L.U.

- |bersilva, 5.A.U. - Ence Energia, S.L.U. and subsidiaries
- Norfor Maderas S.A.U.

The nominal rate of cosporate income tax is 30%.

Group companies resident in Uruguay for tax pirposes-

1
|
!
;

Group companies in Uruguay are subject to the Uruguayan general tax regimen, Income Tax on Economic
Activities (IRAE), at a nominal rate of 25% of book incomefloss corrected with tax adjustments established by |,
applicable norms. This does not include "Las Pleyades, S.A." which is subject to the special regimen of Financial \\{
Investment Corporations (SAF1), at a tax rate of 0.3% of its equity. :
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Group comparies resident in Portugal for tax purposes-

Iberflorestal, S.A. files corporate tax returns in Portugal under the general corporate tax regime. The nominal rate
of the Imposto sobre o Rendimiento das Pessoas Colectias is 25%.

Taxable income is not determined on the basis of consolidated book earnings but of the separate taxable income
generated by the companies forming the Group, determined in accordance with the applicable individual tax
regimes. For these purposes, the individual tax bases of the companies resident in Spain for tax purpose are
included in the taxable income of Consolidated Tax Group No. 149/02, which cannot be offset by tax losses
incurred by non-resident companies.

Regulatory changes-

Tax regulations underwent various changes in fiscal year 2012, pursuant to Royal Decree-Law 12/2012 and
20/2012. Among the changes made the capacity to use negatlive tax bases accredited in previous years was
termporarily reduced to 25% of the tax base; the possibility of freely amortising investments in new assets was
eliminated; and limits were established on the deductibility of financial costs.

Reconciliation-

A reconciliation of accounting profit and taxable income at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Accounting profit before tax (¥) 62,978 57,014
Permenent differences-

Arising in profit and loss 516 1,215
Temporary differences-

Arising in the year 2,395 8,818

Arising in prior years (11,545) (37,099)

Arising in transfers ftom equity (41) (161)
Consolidation adjustments 1,225 (6,027)
Tax losses offset (13,826} (12,742)
Taxable income 41,702 11,018
Gross tax charge 12,511 3,233
Credits, withholdings andother amounts . {11,198) (4,555)
Tax payable / (recoverable) 1,313 (1,322}

(*) Generated from continuing operations in its entirety.
Permanent differences arising in profit and loss

Permanent differences arising in profit and loss consist of expenses incurred that are not allowable for tax j
purposes. This section includes mainly administrative sanctions and fines. !

Temporary differences ]

Temporary differences arise from differences in charges for temporary income tax and expenses between
accounting and tax norms. These are broken down by nature in another part of this note.
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Reconciliation of accounting profit to the income tax expense

A reconciliation of accounting profit and taxable income at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Accounting profit before tax 62,978 57,015
Permanent differences arising in profit and loss 516 1,215
Elimination of accounting profit / loss of non-resident 730 (4,646)
companies
Eliminations / inclusions on consolidation 272 (6,025)
Taxable income 64,496 47,559
Tax charge 19,349 14,268
Deductions and adjustment for prior years’ {ax effect (1.399) 897
Adjustment for tax effect of non-resident companies 1,997 657
Corporate income tax expense / (rebate) 19,947 15,822
A breakdown of the corporate income tax expense for 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Current tax expense and other movements 29,435 18,659
Deferred tax expense (9,488) {2,837)
19,947 15,822

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
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Deferred tax assets

Fiscal Year 2012
Balance at Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Increases Decreases Transfers 31/12/2012
Deferred tax assets recognised in income-
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current 461 - 230) - 231
assets
Impairment of non-current assets 323 404 (279) - 448
Provisions 4,459 400 (212) (2,467) 2,180
Impairment of current assets 1,375 424 (2,335) 077 441
Employee benefits - 90 {407 1,491 1,174
Non-resident companies 2,214 415 (2,462) 1 168
Consolidation adjustments 58 - (106) (2) {(50)
Tax loss carryforwards 27,371 - (5.,408) - 21,963
Tax credits - 415 415 - -
36,261 2,148 (£1,854) - 26,555
Deferred tax assets recognised in equity-
Hedging instruments 9,328 2,372 (7,675) - 4,025
Total 45,589 4,520 (19,529) - 30,580
Fiscal Year 2011
Balance at Balance at
Thousands of Furos 01/01/2011 Increases Decreases 31/12/2011
Deferred tax assets recognised in income-
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 782 - (321) 461
Impairment of non-current assets 4,236 714 (4,627) 323
Provisions 0,935 2,064 (4,540) 4,459
Impairment of current assets 2,480 1,375 (2,480) 1,375
Non-resident companies 2,489 379 {654) 2,214
Consolidation adjustments 1,031 18 {991) 58
Tax loss carryforwards 27,761 2,478 (2,868) 27,371
Tax credifs 1,601 547 (1,548) -
46,715 7,575 (18,029) 36,261
Deferred tax assets recognised in equity-
Hedging instruments 3,166 6,162 - 9,328
\
Total (*) 49,881 13,737 (18.629) 45,5"?89

(*) Includes EUR 2,935 thousand classified as available-for-sale assets (see Note 20).

The deferred fax assets were recognised in the consolidated balance sheet because the directors of the Group {
companies understand, on the basis of best estimates of the future earnings of the entities forming the

¢
i

A
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consolidated Tax Group, that it is highly likely that the assets will be recovered within the period established by

prevailing tax legislation.

The tax loss carryforwards recognised were generated in 2008. In accordance with Spanish legislation, the tax
losses generated in a given year may be carried forward {o be offset against the future profits obtained by
consofidated Tax Group No. 149/02 in the eighteen annual tax pericds immediately succeeding the year in which

ithe loss was incurred.
Deferred tax liabilities recognised

Fiscal Year 2012

Balance at Balance at
Thousands of Euros 01/01/2012 Increases Decreases Transfers 31/1272012
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in income-
Accelerated depreciation 3,106 32 (254) - 2,884
Other 2,100 67 (63) 33 2,137
5,206 99 (317) 33 5,021
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in equity-
Revaluation of forest land (Note 13) 23,509 - (1 - 23,498
Hedging instruments - 3,216 - - 3,216
Consolidation adjustments and other items {426) 499 30 (33) 10
23,083 3,715 40 (33) 26,724
28,289 3,814 (358) - 31,745
Fiscal Year 2011
Thousands of Euros
Balance at Balance at
01/01/2011 Increases Decreases 31/12/2011
Deferred tax liabilities reecognised in income-
Accelerated depreciation - 3,106 - 3,106
Other - 2,100 - 2,100
- 5,206 - 5,206
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in equity-
Revaluation of forest land (Note 13) 23,515 - %) 23,509
Consolidation adjustments and other items 134 - (560) {426)
Total 23,649 5,206 (5606) 28,289

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

The Group has not recognised certain deferred tax assets in the accompanying consolidated batance sheet.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
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Thousands of Euros 2012 2011

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets - 2,921
Tax loss carryforwards 2,412 2,880
Total at end of reporting period 2,412 5,801

All of the tax loss carryforwards relate to Group companies resident for tax purposes in Uruguay. In accordance
with Uruguayan corporate income tax {IRAE) regulations, tax loss carryforwards generated after 31 December
2007 expire in five years. The amount of tax loss camryforwards is revised each year based on the change in the
Uruguayan National Products Price Index (IPPN).

Years open for review and tax audits

The Tax Agency is currently performing inspections of the Parent Company and various companies of Grupo
Ence; Income Tax for 2007 to 2009, Value Added Tax and Withholdings 2008 and 2009, Special Tax on
Electricity 2008 to 2010, and Tax on Economic Activities 2009-2012. Tax payments according to current tax law
cannot be considered as final until it has been inspected by the tax authorities or until the conclusion of the statute
of limitations established in each tax jurisdiction: Four years in Spain and Portugal, five years in Uruguay. In the
opinion of the Directors contingencies thal could arise from the inspections in process as well as the review of
years open to inspection will have no important impact on the Group financial statements.

Income and expenses

a) Sales

The Group's net ordinary sales for 2012 and 2011 were distributed as follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Pulp sales 596,954 596,895
Electricity sales 208,371 184,304
Wood and forestry services 22,253 44,252
827,578 825,451

The Group sold 1,248,805 tons of wood pulp in fiscal year 2012 and 1,542,773 megawait hours of electricity
(1,232,501 tons of pulp and 1,490,260 megawatt hours in fiscal year 2011),

Practically all sales of electricity were made in Spain. The distribution by geographical market of revenues
from pulp sales was as follows:
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Percentage/ Pulp sales 2012 2011
Germany 21.6 23.1
Ttaly 171 16.4
Spain 13.0 14.6
France 9.4 10.1
Austria 6.9 4.8
China 472 6.5
Turkey 3.7 2.8
Poland 3.6 4.5
Sweden 3.5 2.1
Netherlands 2.5 1.9
Slovenia 2.5 2.8
United Kingdom 23 2.0
Israel 2.0 1.3
Switzerland 1.9 2.5
Other 5.8 4.6
100 100

One customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group’s revenues.

b) Procurements-

The detail of raw and other materials consumed in 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

TFiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Euros

Purchases

Changes in inventories of raw materials,
other materials and merchandise

Other external expenses

2011
336,182 358,274
16,666 (10,914)
55,200 43,399
408,048 390,759

Procurements basically comprise the cost of timber, chemicals, fuel and other variable costs incurred in the

cellulose pulp manufacturing process.

c) Employee receivables

The detail of “Staff costs” incurred in 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

54




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and preparved in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Wages and salaries 59,999 63,638
Social security taxes 13,936 15,211
Pension contributions and other employee 3,472 3,755
benefit costs

77,407 82,604
Termination benefits 4,695 6,809

82,102 89,413

The average headcounts for 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Average Number of Employees in the Year

2012 2011

Professional Category Men Women Total Men Women Total
Executives 6 i 7 6 | 7
Employees with individual contracts 220 56 276 187 52 239
Employees subject to collective labour 654 103 757 792 134 926
agreement

Temporary employees 202 28 230 371 32 403

1,682 188 1,270 1,356 219 1,575

At 31 December 2012 the Group had 16 disabled employees (19 disabled employees at 31 December

2011).

The distribution of employees by gender at 31 December 2012 and 2011, classified by professional

category, was as follows:

Number of Employees at the close of the period

2012 2011

Professional Category Men Women Total Men Women Total
Executives 6 1 7 6 I 7
Employees with individual contracts 236 65 301 181 47 228
Employees subject to collective 590 92 682 738 118 856
labour agreement

Temporary employees 67 16 83 211 21 232

899 174 1,073 1,136 87 1,323

At 31 December 2012, the Board of Directors was composed of twelve directors, all of whom were men (13

directors at 31 December 2011).

d} Transactions in currencies other than the euro

The Group companies made sales totalling EUR 186,430 thousand in non-euro currencies, principally US

dollars (EUR 187,027 thousand in 2011).
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e) Other operating expenses

Details of other operating expenses in 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Thousands of Euros
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Eures 2012 2011
Other expenses 187,277 214,732
Emission rights used (Note 15) 3,029 5,614
Other taxes and operating expenses 6,722 4,969
Change in operating provisions 5,083 8,535
Total 202,113 233,850

Details of “Other expenses” in the consolidated income statements for 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
Transport, freight and marketing costs 60,399 87.844
Utilities 60,750 64,392
Repairs and maintenance 16,476 18,734
Leases and royalties 7,714 8,577
Insurance premiums 5,293 6,131
Independent professional services 6,942 5,769
Banking and similar services 2,537 2,475
Advertising, publicity and public relations 1,008 817
Research and development expenses (*) 100 98
Other services 26,058 19,895
187,277 214,372
(*) In addition approximately 10 people work full time in R&D for the Group.
f) Finance cosis
Details of other operating expenses in 2012 and 2011 are as follows:
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Thousands of Euros 2012 20F1
Syndicated loan 8,657 10,478
Project Finance 3,044 1,426
Overdrafl, factoring and confirming facilities 1,936 2,255
Commissions charged to income 4,886 5,035
Settlement of IR Swap — Corporate borrowings 11,107 11,708
Settlement of IR Swap — Project finance 1,307 307
Settlement of Equity Swap 485 332
Activation of financial costs (7,159) (3,899)
Other 108 459
24,371 28,101
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g} Other disclosures

The fees for financial audit and other services provided by the Group’s auditor or by a firm related to the
auditors by control, common ownership or management in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

Thousands of Euros

Fiscal Year  Fiscal Year

2012 2011
Audit services 197 197
Total audit and related services 197 197
Other services 120 30
Total professional services 126 30

h) Profit or loss by company

The contributions made by each of the consolidated companies to Group profit for 2012 and 2011 were as
follows:

Thousands of Euros 2012 2011
ENCE Energfa y Celulosa, S.A. 37,279 35,472
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U. (*) 22,360 348
Celulosa Energla, S.L. (¥) (9,775) 7,319
Norte Forestal, S.A.U. (784) 3,741
Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U. 1,459 707
Iberflorestal , S.A.U. 174 262
Ibersilva, S.AU. 068 (11,031)
Norfor Maderas, S.A.U. - 30
Eucalipto de Pontevedra, S.A.U. (52) (1D
Electricidad de Navia Asturias, S.L. (46) (5)
Maderas Aserradas del Litoral, S.A. (2,570} (1,794)
Celulosas de M'Bopicu4, S.A. 11 (55)
Zona Franca M’Bopicud, S.A. ) 2,823
Las Pléyades Urugoay, S.A. (79) 24
Las Pléyades S.A.F.L (57) 285
Las Pléyades Argentina (5) (82)
Sierras Calmas, S.A. (590) 4,199
Ence Energla, S.L.U (536) (383)
Ence Energia Huelva, S.L.U. (1,541) (657}
Ence Energfa Extremadura, S.L.U (119) -
Consoelidation adjusiments (2,704) -
Total 43,031 41,192

(*) Affiliates Celulosa Energia S.L. and Celulosa de Asturias S.A.U. distributed
dividends in fiscal year 2012 to the Parent Company in the amount of EUR
15 miltion and 25 million, respectively.
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Non-current assets held for sale

The Group classifies a non-current asset or transferrable asset as held for sale when it has decided to sell the
asset or it considers that it will be sold within the next twelve months. These assets are valued at their book value
or fair value, whichever is lower after deducting costs necessary for sale.

The Parent Company on 15 December 2102 decided to sell its forest assets in Uruguay. These assets are 27,780
hectares of eucalyptus forest in southeast Uruguay, as well as a lumber milling installation. Sale of the lands and
related assets will provide 77.3 million dollars to the Group. The transaction requires authorization of the
Uruguayan forest authorities. The section on “Non-current assets held for sale” includes assets soid in the
operation.

The assets listed in this section are valued at fair value. The impact from valuing these assets at fair value as
well as other costs deriving from the operation give a loss of EUR 660 thousand, registered in the section “Net
profitfioss from the value of non-current assets held for sale”, in the 2012 consolidated profit and loss statement.

“Non-current assets held for sale” at 31 December 2012, at fair value, is as follows:

Thousands
of
Euros

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 58,360
Property, plant and equipment 36,364
Biological assets 21,996
CURRENT ASSETS 985
Inventories 985
TOTAL ASSETS 59,345

Assets held for sale are included in the operating segments “Forest management” and “Forest and other seirvices”

it was decided in June 2011 to sell the share held by the Group in Ibersilva, S.A., from the assets and liabilities
“held for sale”.

One year from that decision, market conditions have had a significant change, with a significant reduction in sale
opportunities. As a result the assets and liabilities held by this affiliate were no longer be classified as “held for
sale” at 31 December 2012. This has also significantly reduced the activity of this affiliate, which at the close of
2012 was practically inactive. Following is the breakdown of assets and liabilifies for this Group company at 31
December 2011 and 30 June 2012: .
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Thousands of Euros 30/06/2012  31/12/2011 30/06/2012  31/12/2011
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3,330 3,468 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 90 90
CURRENT ASSETS 11,433 13,076 CURRENT LIABILITIES 13,391 12,232
Inventories 672 876 Bank borrowings 631 257
Trade and other receivables 8314 9,265 Trade and other payables 11,959 11,104
Current financial asscts 1,056 817 Payable to public authorities and other 801 871
payables

Cash and other cash equivalenls 1,391 2,118

TOTAL ASSETS 14,763 16,544 TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,763 12,322

21.

The effects of the classification of assets and liabilities of Ibersilva, S.A. as “held for sale” in the 2012 balance
sheet were not significant.

Operating segments

The manufacture of cellulose pulp is closely tied to electricity generating operations using waste generated from
the pulp production process as fuel. Furthermore, the Group has plants that are specifically designed to generate
power using biomass and other fuels, and it also owns forests and timber land providing the raw material for the
production of paper pulp.

in this context, the results of the acfivities conducted by the cellulose pulp manufacturing and electricity
generating business units are analysed jointly by the Management Committee, and the financial information
produced only distinguishes between the revenues earned.

The Committee also made an independent analysis of forest management on the plantations held or owned by it
and used for pulp. Investments currently in process in electricity generation plants located outside of the pulp
plants that use their forest assets as supply, and other minor activities.

Segment information for 2012 and 2011 based on the regular management information produced by the Group is
as follows:
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Fiscal Year 2012

Thousands of Euros

. New Forestry Consolidation
; : ; T
Income Statement Pulp and Energy Forest and other  Sub-total adjustments otal
Power . management . between
Projects services g
egiments
Revenue:
External 794,511 10,814 8,709 13,544 827,578 - 827,578
Inter-segment 1,890 7,318 113,828 6,978 130,014 (130,014) -
Total revenue: 796,401 18,132 122,537 20,522 957,592 (136,014) 827,578
Profit / Loss '
Profit / (loss) from operations 81,296 (657) 2,862 1,528 85,029 (2,763) 82,266
Finance income 8,971 93 18 63 9,145 (8,398) 747
Finance costs (18,492) (2,572) {4,085) 821 (25,970) 8,398 (17,572
Exchange differences (2,273) - 531 (61) (1,803) - (1,803)
Net profit/loss from assets held
for sale (251) - 1,953 (2,362) {660) {660)
Taxes (19,429) 942 (1,164) (296) {19,947) - (19,947)
Profit / (Loss) for the year 49,822 (2,194) 115 (1,949) 45,794 - 43,031
Investment (*) 26,870 72,035 0,524 4,044 112,473 112,473
3‘2;66013t‘°n and amorfization sy 351y (2,026)  (7,526) (569)  (63,372) - (63,372)
Accumulated depreciation and 7o geay (3053)  (104347)  (7,315)  (873,468) - (873,468)

provisions

("} Not including emission rights.
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Thousands of Euros

New Forostry Consolidation
- i Total
Balance Sheet Pulp and Energy Forest and other  Sub-total adjustments o
Power . management . between
Projects services
Segments
Assets
Non-current 870,325 207,872 242,842 9,394 1,330,433 (357,518) 972,915
Current 358,217 36,661 111,799 18,141 524,818 (150,264) 374,554
Total assets (a) 1,228,542 244,533 354,641 27,535 1,855,251 (507,782) 1,347,469
Liabilities
Non-current 269,223 194,488 165,939 9,496 639,146 (270,262) 368,884
Current 326,546 28,601 29,568 18,243 402,958 (150,264) 252,694
g;tal consolidated _ liabilities 595769 223,089 195,507 27,739 1,042,104 (420,526) 621,578
(a) Not including equity or deferred tax assets & liabilities
Fiscal Year 2011
Thousands of Euros
] Consolidation
Pulp and Forest Forestry and adjustments Total
management other Sub-total
Power () services between
Income Statement segments
Revenue:
External 781,199 23,865 20,387 825,451 - 825451
Inter-segment - 307,277 9,165 316,442 (316,442) -
Total revenue: 781,199 331,142 29,552 1,141,893 (316,442) 825,451
Profit / Loss
Profit / (loss) from operations 78,073 18,199 (16,193) 80,079 - 80,079
Finance income 20,912 4,134 65 23,111 (19,815) 5,296
Finance costs (38,211) {10,454) (1,596) (50,261) 19,815 (30,446)
Exchange differences 2,798 (774) 61 2,085 - 2,085
Taxes (20,033) (379) 4,590 (15,822) - (15,822)
Profit / (loss) for the year 43,539 10,726 (13,073) 41,192 - 41,192
Other disclosures
Investment (*) 71,369 30,079 62 101,510 - 101,510
Depreciation and amortization charge (52,466) (9,703) (1,291} (63,460) - (63,460)
Accumulated depreciation and (709,969) (104,968) (5,300) (820,237) - (820,237?
provisions .
(* This activity in fiscal year 2011 includes forest management for stands of forest owned or managed for (?\

use for cellufose. This activity also includes the purchase of wood from third parties, to be used in wood

R
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pulp production plants in the amount of EUR 280,124 thousand. These purchases were registered in

2012 in the section "Wood Pulp and Energy”.

(*) Not including emission rights.

Thousands of Euros

Forestry and Consolidation
Pulp and Forest Y adjustments Total
other Sub-toial
Power management . between
services

Balance Sheet segments
Assets
Non-current 934,636 348,050 8,539 1,291,225 (326,115) 965,110
Current 269,022 141,567 25,831 436,420 {75,389) 361,031
Total assets (2) 1,203,658 489,617 34,370 1,727,645 (401,504) 1,326,141
Liabilities
Non-current 387,647 179,866 23,345 590,858 (238,594) 352,264
Current 212,390 114,119 16,958 343,467 (75,389) 268,078
Total consolidated liabilities (a) 600,037 293,985 40,303 934,325 (313,983) 620,342

{a) Notincluding equity or deferred tax assets and liabilities,

Installations specifically used to generate electrical energy from biomass grouped in the segment "New energy
projects”, including investments in non-current assets that at the close of 2011 were grouped in “Forest

Management” in the amount of EUR 136,550 thousand.

22. Guarantee commitments to third parties and other contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2012 various financial institutions had extended guarantees, mainly relating to commercial
operations, to various Group companies for a total of EUR 50,497 thousand (EUR 56,209 thousand at 31
December 2011). The directors do not expect that the guaranteed amounts or the guarantees given will give rise

to significant liabilities.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries have arranged civil liability insurance. The directors consider that this

policy reasonably covers the refated contingencies.

23. Remuneration and other benefits paid to directors and senior executives of the

Parent Company, and other information

In 2012 and 2011 the directors of the Parent Company earned the following amounts in respect of the discharge

of their duties as members of the Board of Directors:
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Thousands of Euros

Fixed
2012 — Director Type Remuneraiio  Attendance Total
n Fees

Juan Luis Arregui Ciarsolo Executive 124 77 201
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. Nominee 34 30 64
José Manuel Serra Peris Independent 34 42 76
Pedro Barato Triguero Independent 34 22 56
Fernando Abril-Martorell Herndndez External 34 46 80
Gustavo Matias Clavero Independent 34 32 66
Jose Guillermo Zubia Guinea Independent 34 53 87
Nortefia Patrimonial, S.L. Nominee 34 14 48
Pedro José Lopez Jiménez (b) Nominee 34 24 58
José Carlos de Alamo Jiménez Independent 34 26 60
Pascual Fernandez Martinez Nominee 34 36 70
lavier Echenique Landiribar Nominee 34 44 78

498 446 944

(a) Director resigned in 2012.
Thousands of Euros
Fixed
2011 — Director Type Remuneratio Attendance Total
n Fees

Juan Luis Arregui Ciarsolo Executive 113 72 185
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. Norninee 31 28 59
José Manuel Serra Peris Independent 31 37 68
Pedro Barato Triguero Independent 28 26 54
Fernando Abril-Martorell Hernéndez External 31 42 73
Gustavo Matias Clavero Independent 31 30 61
Jose Guillermo Zubfa Guinea Independent 31 71 102
Atalaya de Inversiones, S.R.L. (a) Nominee 14 16 30
Nortefia Patrimonial, S.L. Nominee 31 26 57
Pedro José Lopez Jiménez Nominee 31 26 57
José Carlos de Alamo Jiménez Independent 31 26 57
Pascual Fernandez Martinez Nominee 31 30 61
Javier Echenique Landiribar (b) Nominee 31 42 73

465 472 937

{a) Directors standing down in 2011.

(b) Also in receipt of prior years’ remuneration amounting to EUR 10 thousand.

In 2012 the Parent Company's Management Committee earned total remuneration of EUR 3,366 thousand (EUR
3,676 thousand in 2011) in respect of all itemns, including the duties of the Chief Executive Officer by way of
services provided and termination benefits.

Directors performing executive functions and Upper Management received 628,792 options to shares of Ence
Energia y Celulosa, S.A., as part of their remuneration, under the conditions established in the “Ence Energia y
Celulosa S.A. Long Term Incentive Plan for 2010-2015" (see Note 4-0).
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Members of upper management during 2012 and 2011 are:

Name: Title:
Ignacio de Colmenares y Brunet CEO
José Manuel Zarandona de la Torre Head of Pulp
Jacinto Lobo Morin Head of Energy
Maria José Zueras Saludas Head of Human Capital
Diego Maus Lizariturry Head of Finance
Luis Carlos Martinez Martin Head of Communications
Guillermo Medina Ors Secretary General

No advances ar loans have been granted to the directors of the Parent Company.

The Parent Company has not contracted any pension or alternative life insurance obligations with its directors in
their capacity as such. However, the Chief Executive Officer receives certain social benefits under his service
agreement, which are included in the pertinent pensions contributions and payments.

Pursuant to Article 229 of the Spanish Corporations Law and in order to reinforce the transparency of public
limited companies, it is hereby expressly stated that the directors did not hold any ownership interests at 31
December 2012 in the share capital of companies engaging in an activity that is identical, similar or
complementary to that which constitutes the Company's object. Furthermore, they did not and do not currently
perform any activities, as independent professionals or employees, that are identical, similar or complementary to
the activity that constitutes the company object of the Parent Company, Except for Messrs. Arregui Ciarsolo and
Abril-Martorell Hernandez, who indirectly own 90% and 4.97% respecfively of Foresta Capital, S.L. Mr. Arregui
Ciarsolo also holds a 0.577% ownership interest in the share capital of Iberdrola, S.A.

Transactions with related parties

The Gompany had various sources of financing from related companies at 31 December 2012 and 2011, all at
market price, as follows:

Carrying Interest
Year Amount Currency Rate Maturity
2012 6.155 EURO Euribor + 3% 2014
2011 5.452 EURO  Euribor + 3% 2014

The Group companies carried out the following transactions with related parties in 2012 and 2011:

Thousands of Euros

Related Party Transaction 2012 2011
Liberbank, S.A. Interest and banking fees 255 481
Fidalser, S.L. Share purchase 25,246 -
Atalaya de Inversiones, S.R.L. Share purchase - 26,389
Grupo Foresta Purchase of intangible assets 3,566 -
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The Parent Company on 20 December 2012 also executed a service agreement with Agroluan, S.L., represented
by Javier Arregui Abendivar, to assure the correct implementation of R&D technology acquired during the year
(see Note 8). That agreement provides for an annual payment of EUR 250 thousand.

Environment

The Ence Industrial Group has three plants located in Huelva, Navia and Pontevedra, each of which has the
pertinent Integrated Environmental Authorization to conduct its industrial activities and to generate renewable
electricity using biomass. Those authorizations were renewed in 2011.

In addition and in accordance with current standards the Cellulose Business Unit plants have a Greenhouse Gas
Emission Authorization {C0O2), obtained from the annual joint assignment of 657,870 emission rights for the
period 2008-2012. Emissions for 2012, verified by AENOR, did not exceed the rights assigned; any excess
generated will be used in 2013-2020 as greenhouse gas emission rights frading.

The processes carried out in Ence follow the TQM Management Model, excellence in management, are
structured around three linchpins:

1y Direct improvement
2) Manage process
3) Manage daily activities.

The management model has been implemented through continuous improvement with a focus on maximum
efficiency and competitiveness with an integral focus on quality, personal health and safety, respect for the
environment and prevention of pollution.

The three Operating Cenires are certified by certified rating agencies (AENOR and Lioyd's) pursuant to UNE-EN-
ISO 14001:2004, and the corresponding audits were performed in June to renew the management systems.

Auditors validating the Environmental Statement were almost carried out so the three plants keep their EMAS
{Eco-audit and Eco-Management System) certificate pursuant to EU Regulation 1221/2008. Each of the three
factories were the first in their respective Autonomous Communities to undertake this voluntary commitment,
which few other companies have done to date.

Environmental management forms part of the TQM Management Model which offers one of the tools in the
foolbox. This is the Fundamental Improvement Objectives {OMF) that were defined in each of the Operating
Centres, and which have an environmental interest as they incorporate such aspects as minimising noxious
smells, improving the quality of spills, improving resource management, decreasing electric consumption or
reducing wastes generated.

Regular analytic controls are carried out at the plants covering all discharge parameters, as well as atmospheric
emissions, noise levels and the waste generated and managed. The results obtained reflect the efficacy of this
management model, and certify compliance with applicable legislation.

These results are the result of the commitment of all those who work in Ence, as well as the efforts made over
recent years with implementation of best available techniques (BAT) as well as best environmental practices
(BEP) defined in the sector BREF (Best Available Techniques in the Pulp and Paper Industry 2001).

Huelva Centre of Operations

In 2012 the Huelva mill completed the 50 MW biomass generating project, which involves a boiler, a turbine and a
biomass treatment plant.

With this plant the biomass project is the largest of its kind in Spain, using biomass energy and therefore reducing
the consumption of fossil fuels.

Actions implemented in 2012 have channelled emissions from some parts of the process, thereby reducing
noxious odours by 45%.

The 11% reduction in water use achieved during the second half of 2011 was consolidated this year.

The principle parameters of effluent spills have also been improved, with total organic carbon (TOC) and
suspended solids reduced by 30%, for the second consecutive year.
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The amendment of the Integrated Environmental Authorization reclassified determined waste products from the
process, such as grit and ash from the biomass boiler and ash from the recovery boiler as by-products or
secondary raw materials. This amendment opened the door to management procedures designed to extract value
rather than dumping the waste produced. Different improvemenis have also helped {o reduce the amount of dregs
generated.

Other improvements implemented in the TQM model were designed to reduce the consumption of raw materials
such as, for example, fossil fuels.

Environmental investments made in 2012 represented a total of EUR 13.2 million. The most important were
construction of a new, energy efficient stripping and chipping plant that allows a better use of the biomass
generated. The investment made in a construction of a new gas discharge condensation system with accumulator
tank included is also important. Total investments in Huelva in 2012 came to EUR 4,509 thousand.

Navia Centre of Operations

The Navia Plant had record pulp and energy production in 2012, consolidating and oplimising the amplification
and renovation performed in 2009 and improving its processes. With these positive results noxious odours have
been reduced, from the reduction in atmospheric emissions and wastes generated.

The most important environmental investment made in 2042 in the Navia Operations Centre is the amplification of
the effluent treatment plant, which with its commissioning in 2013 will improve the quality of liquid effluents to
benchmark values at the European level. The project has a budget of EUR 12 million, and includes minimising
noxious odours and the treatment of organic wastes generated.

The treatment plant currently in construction in 2012 improved effluent quality by optimising processes and
improving the internat effluent channelling system for the lumber camp and recirculating currents during the
digestion and washing stages, to make a better use of organic matter and reduce its contribution to total effluents.

Noxious odours were reduced through operating improvements and better gas treatment equipment in the plant,
which have reduced atmospheric emissions from the lime ovens. This improvement was seen with the investment
made in 2012 in air quakity metering equipment.

Finally the plan to cut sources of noise focusing on the lumber camp installations continued in 2012,

The total investments made at the Navia plant in 2012 amounted to EUR 2,484 thousand.

Pontevedra Centre of Operations

One environmental improvement projects in the Pontevedra Centre of Operations, underway with the
collaboration of the Universidad de Santiage de Compostela, is fo eliminate noxious odours.

Proposals planned in the study made have been implemented, such as for example the start up of a solution to
eliminate odours from the pressing shop at the effluent treatment plant, which was done using biological treatment
towers which achieved high performance in eliminating odours.

New investments have also been made in the thickening cover or changing the gas boiler chimney and the
chimney of the recovery boiler.

These measures, together with the 2012 commitment to improved operations according to indicators showed a
decrease of 75% this year in the impact of noxious odours.

New investments have been made with this goal of “Zero odour” in mind, such as the gathering of washing gases
for burning in the Recovery Boiler, the system to burn biclogical sludge in the Recovery Boiler, or the installation
of hydraulic seals on the tanks to eliminate leaks. Conclusion of the work is scheduled for the annual shut down
next March.

A total of EUR 3.2 miillion was invested in Pontevedra in 2012, to eliminate odours.

Another projected prepared in 2012 is designed to improve the visual impact of the Operations Centre by
eliminating the vapours trails that leave the cooling towers. The work involved in this investment of EUR 1.8
million will concluded during the annual shutdown this March.

66

A




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Finally the continuous monitoring of atmospheric emissions was certified according to UNE-EN 14181, This
represents an investment of EUR 0.12 million for the acquisition, adaptation and calibration of the metering
equipment.

Excellent results were achieved in 2012 in terms of spill quality. With this the Pontevedra factory continues to set
the European benchmark in terms of effluent quality.

Finally and complying with their commitment to the environment, a webpage (www.encepontevedra.com) was set
up making the daily indicators for the Pontevedra Operations Centre environmental petrformance, available to the
public. The webpage provides data for the previous 30 days, contextualised with parameters of the Integrated
Environmental Authorization and BREF indicators for the EU.

The total invesiments made at the Pontevedra plant in 2012 amounted to EUR 1,198 thousand.

Forestry Operations

Forestry acfivities continued during 2012 in Group companies (Silvasur Agroforestal and Norte Forestal, including
investments in maintaining production mass (fertilization, fire and pest fighting activities, forest investments),
management (mass activities designed to protect or preserve biodiversity) and amplification of the forest.
Environmental activities focus on reducing risks to masses of all kinds and to maximising intrinsic values such as
biodiversity maintenance, improved soil conservation, and in general to a global mitigation of climate change
through the carbon fixing capacity in forest ecosystems.

As part of their efforts to protect the environment, the Group companies that are primarily engaged in forestry
activities have obtained and maintained certificates issued by duly authorised firms demonstrating the sustainable
and responsible use of forests, boosting confidence in the consumption of forest products. Silvasur Agroforestal,
Norte Forestal and Ibersilva maintained their Management System certification under UNE-EN-ISO 14001:2004.

Norte Forestal and Silvasur Agroforestal which at one time were the first forest managers in the Iberian Peninsula
to obtain PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes) certification for a sustainable
forestry management, continue to hold that certification based cn the planning, monitoring and operations of
forest masses. They continue fo hold that certification for their chain of custody, assuring the origin of the wood is
traceable throughout the process, and showing that there are no conflictive sources. In 2012 the internal
certification process for the chain of custody was integrated for the entire Group. Although this is certified
separately, the process is integral and coordinated, reinforcing product traceability and positioning the company
favourably for entry of the Due Diligence Regulation in 2013,

The greatest progress made in Faorestry Management dealt with the FSC® benchmark. Throughout 2012 the
certificate scope was amplified; consequently Norfor has duplicated certified surface and Silvasur has include
cork production within its scope, making it the main FSC certified cork producer in the Province of Huelva. The
integration process progressed in 2012 with a grouped certification pre-audit that would allow a single FSC
Sustainable Forestry Management Certificate for the entire Grupo Ence.

A single CdC FSC certificate allows the wood's traceability for all of the Group in Spain. Afiiliate Iberflorestal in
Portugal, dedicated mainly to the sale of wood, holds its own certificate.

Las Pleyades (Uruguay) and Sierras Calmas Uruguay) maintained their GFS and CdC for both PEFT and FSC
systems in 2012. '

We also note the work performed throughout 2012 to acguire uncut wood, especially in the north of the peninsula,
which involved the direct work of Ence on the land at the time of cutting. This activity, under the coordination of
the Standing Purchases and Usage Areas was carried out under functioning standards similar to those applied to
the surface completely managed by Ence; so certificate groups were created to cover forest management in the
stands purchased. These certifications were issued under the PEFC system; these will be issued under the FSC
system in 2013, pursuant to regulatory changes made in the Spanish system at the initiative of Ence, to allow the
certification of very small surfaces, mostly in northern Spain.

Forestry activities in assets managed by Grupo Ence represented a total forest surface of 1,341 ha. Controlled
assets increased by 248 hectares, representing an investment of EUR 479,162, Forestry investment is listed in
Note 8.
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26. Events after the end of the reporting period

Corporate debt refinancing

Ence Energia y Celulosa S.A. on 1 February 2013 completed the placement of a bonds issue for EUR 250 million
among institutional investors, in accordance with 144A Reg S of the Securities Law of 1933 and its later
amendments. The issue was made under the rules of the State of New York (United States of America) and
bonds will be listed on the Luxembourg exchange MTF Euro market.

This issue, which matures 15 February 2020 accrues fixed annual interest of 7.250%, payable semi-annually, and
as the principal guarantees offers a pledge on the shares of the principal operating companies of the Group (Ence
Energia y Celulosa, S.A., Celulosas de Asturias, 8.A., Norte Forestal, S.A. and Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.P, as
well as a pledge on receivables, bank accounts and Group loans excluding those used to hedge the financing
project. Transactions costs came to approximately EUR 10 million.

The issue includes debt and interest hedge covenants, as well as limits on the execution of determined payments,
customary in this type of issue.

Two financial rating agencies have issued their opinion within the framework of the issue, on the Group as a
whole and on the debt issue; Standard & Poor's rated the Group and the issue as BB and Moody's rated the
Group as Ba3 and the issue as B1.

A revolving credit facility was also signed as part of the issue in the amount of EUR 20M, with a syndicate of
national and international first level banks. This financing earns interest at Euribor and matures in 2017.

Funds captured were used fo pay the amounts pending payment from the syndicated loan taken by the Group in
2010 for EUR 229,410 thousand (see Note 16), loans and credit lines in the amount of EUR 2,913 thousand, and
the IRS linked to corporate financing for EUR 10,068 thousand (see Note 10).

Regulatory changes in the energy sector

Regulatory changes applicable to the energy business (see Note 5) have a negative impact on project finance for
the Huelva 50 Mw and Merida 20 Mw projects, as these are calculated based on determined ratios that include
projecied cash flows.

The estimated effect on the financial institutions of joint implementation of Law 15/2012 of 27 December, on tax
- for energy sustainability and Royal Decree Law 2/2013 of 1 February, on urgent measures in the electricity sector
and in the financial system, is a reduction in the funding available for Merida projects 20 MW and 50 MW Huelva
20 million euros and 29 mitlion euros respectively.

Currently the Group's management is analysing the reasonableness of the assumptions used by financial
institutions, mainly the evolution of costs and the core CPl. We estimate that these analyses will result in a
negotiation process that matches the available funding for both projects fo the expected impact of these
regulatory changes, limiting the reduction in the funding available above.
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ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Directors’ Report
for the year ended
31 December 2012

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND AND OUTLOOK

The 2012 macroeconomic environment turned positive during the year. Although a worsening of the euro crisis
was noted in the first semester after doubts on Spanish and ltalian ability to make the structural reforms
necessary for their economies to once again grow and create jobs in the context of a restrictive fiscal policy, the
second semester showed a clear reduction in uncertainty on both economies.

Although meeting deficit commitments is proving hard to do, cost cutting measures implemented at the national
and regional levels began to show an improvement in both ratios. The government deficit reduced the 8.8%
recorded in 2011 by levels close to 7%, while regional and local administration deficits were cut in half. Labour
reform is generating a reduction in company costs {a drop of close to 3% in unit labour cost in 2012) allowing
companies to recover the competitiveness lost in the years before the crisis. Based on this improvement the
current account deficit is expected to drop to 1.5% from the 3.5% registered in 2011, with a positive number in the
second semester. The balance sheet clean up by banks and savings funds after the provisions assumed, the
rescue fund agreed with European bodies and creation of a bad bank to absorb the so-called “toxic assets” is
improving the visibility of the health of Spanish financial institutions. As a result the risk premium for Spanish debt
against the German bond closed the year at below 400 basis points, after reaching a maximum high over 600
basis poinis in July.

The euro:dollar exchange rate in part was tied to the evolution of the euro crisis during the year. The worsening of
the crisis caused a change in the exchange rate of close to 1.22 USD/EUR in mid-July, leading to a progressive
deprecation of the US dollar to 1.32 at the end of the year, and coinciding with a reduction in Eurozone
uncertainty and the stagnating of budget talks by the American government (the so-called “fiscal cliff’}).

The pulp market during the year has shown signs of solidness and greater stability despite the usual volatility
shown by raw materials. After cellulose prices remained stable at the level of $650/, prices took an upward trend
until July, placing prices at levels over $780/t. This trend was possible thanks fo the rise in demand in the year
(+2.4%), the absence of new capacities and low inventory levels (consumer levels have remained at minimum
levels of 20 days and producers at normalised levels close to 33 days). Although prices showed a slight
correction in the third quarter to $750/t, coinciding with a lower demand in the summer months together with
greater shut downs by paper producers, the rise in activity in the fourth quarter allowed us to finish the year at
levels close to $780/t. Praduction of the new Eldorado plant in Brazil for 1.5 million tons began in November,
although the impact on total sector offering has been marginal.

Perspectives for 2013 remain positive for the ceflulose business. Although new capacities are expected in
Uruguay and Brazil around the last quarter of the year (Montes del Plata and Maranhao with 1.3 and 1.5 million
tons respectively), the learning curve will limit the volume that will arrive at markets next year. Although the
Eldorado plant will progressively increase its levels of use during coming months, the close of the 0.4 million fons
Jari plant in Brazil and a rise in demand of between 1 and 2 million tons, expected by various consultants, support
expectations that 2013 market prices will be in line with current prices. Activity is expected to rise in 2014 in the
plant mentioned {no new significant increases are expected this year). This will be absorbed by a greater rise in
demand in mature markets, arising from the recovery of their economies.

Electric activity oh the other hand is penalised by fiscal changes implemented for a new 7% tax on electricity
sales and a heavier tax on hydrocarbon use, as well as the elimination of the variable option in the tariff applicable
within the special regimen.

BUSINESSES AND EARNINGS PERFORMANCE
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2012 was a good year for Grupo Ence, both for operations as well as for the cellulose market, although with
prices below 2011 levels of $800/t vs. the slight gains over the $750/t of 2012. This drop was compensated by
greater cellulose and electricity sales and a reduction in production costs, placing the Group's 2012 operating
profits below those achieved in 2011.

Group sales as a whale in 2012 were EUR 828 million, slightly above those of the previous year. Cellulose sales
came to EUR 597 million in 2012, in line with 2011 sales after compensating the 1% growth in volumes with a
similar drop in net sales price. The drop in the celiulose price in dollars was compensated by the rise in the dollar
during the year (1.28 USD/EUR in 2012 vs. 1.39 USD/EUR in 2011).

Electricity sales also set record highs, in terms of both volumes and prices. Electricity sales rose 4% to 1,542,773
MWh thanks to the increased evacuation capacity in Navia and turbine improvements in Pontevedra, with 76%
generated with biomass. Prices per MWh rose 7% over 2011 thanks to the updated fariffs and the greater weight
of forest waste in the generation mix. In accounting terms, electricity sales grew by 13% to EUR 208 milfion.

Forestry and consulting activity fell 50% to EUR 22 million in comparison with 2011, due to the restructuring and
slow abandonment of this activity.

Operating profit (EBIT) was EUR 82 million, 3% over those of 2011. The drop in prices was compensated by
efficiency improvements that allowed not just a rise in production, but also a reduction in production costs per ton
oh the order of 6% in 2012. This improvement was despite unscheduled stops for repairs in Huelva, the impact of
the general strike in the third quarter and a lower plant stability in the second half of the year. An important effort
was made to increase wood supplied through agreements with forest owners, to 50% more than in 2011. Those
agreements reduced dependency on imported wood to satisfy the growing consumption, and also reduced
operating and transpaortation costs through a greater control and modernization of this part of the supply chain. It
also allowed the sale of Company assets in Uruguay, which closed in December 2012,

Investments in 2011 amounted to EUR 130 million. Close to 18% of this investment was made in biological
assets, including both reforestation and forest improvement work in step with the growth in pulp output, and the
development of energy crops to feed the new electriciy generating plants. Industrial investmenis in tangible
assets totalled EUR 87 million, more than 65% of which were applied to the projects related with the expansion of
biomass electricity generating, principally the construction of the 50 MW plant in Huelva, and to a lesser extent to
the construction of the 20 MW plant in Merida, and to the development of new projects and to irrigation systems
for plantations of energy crops.

Net consolidated equity at 31 December 2012 was EUR 725 million (EUR 720 million at 31 December 2011),
equal to 53% of total assets. The drop in growth was due mainly to the recommencement of dividend payments of
EUR 16.5 million in 2012 out of the profit earned in 2011. The objective of this measure was to ensure appropriate
remuneration of the Group’s shareholders at the same time as reducing leverage while ensuring that investment
needs refated with the new generating plants are met in a financial scenario of tight credit, and acquiring treasury
shares.

Ongoing Research, Innovation and Technology activities focused on the continuation of programmes aimed at
achieving the genetic and silvicultural improvement of the eucalyptus tree, innovation and improvement of pulp
processes, mechanical fransformation of timber and the engineering of new projects, as described in the section
“Intangible Assets” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENT

See Note 25 to the accompanying consclidated financial statements.

RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH THE GROUP’S ACTIVITY

ldentified risk factors that affect Grupo ENCE and its activities are listed in Note 5 of the Consolidated Notes
attached.

TRANSACTIONS WITH TREASURY SHARES

70




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
IFRS. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails,

The Parent Company carried out certain transactions with freasury shares in 2012. The Parent Company shares
held as treasury stock at 31 December 2012 represented 7.5 % of share capital (7.8% at 31 December 2011} with
a total par value of EUR16,869 thousand {(EUR 18,190 thousand at 31 December 2011). The average purchase
price was EUR 1.8455 per share.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No important facts occurred after the close of fiscal year 2012, in addition to those included in Note 26 of the
consolidated annual statements attached.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The annual Corporate Governance Report forms part of this Consolidated Management Report and is published
on the CNMV webpage.

S
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The 2012 consolidated financial statements and directors’ report of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and
subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union were formally prepared by the
directors of the Parent Company on 19 February 2013. The financial and accompanying notes are set forth on 73
sheets of ordinary paper {numbered from 1 o 5 in the case of the consolidated financial statements, and from 1 fo
68 in the case of the explanatory notes), the directors’ report on 3 sheets (numbered from 69 to 71). All of the
aforementioned sheets of ordinary paper have been signed by the Secretary to the Board of Direclors, and all of
the directors have signed the present sheet.

And for purposes of RD 1362/2007 of 19 October {Art. 8.1.b), the Company Directers who sign below, declare as
follows regarding responsibility for the Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2012 of Ence Energia y Celulosa,
S.A. and subsidiaries, including financial information for its consolidated group: j*to the best of my knowledge, the
annual financial statements for fiscal year 2012 have been prepared following applicable accounting standards,
offer a true image of the capital, financial situation and profit and loss of the Company and the companies
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, and the director report includes a true analysis of the information
required”,
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The annual accounts and the consolidated management report for the year 2012 Ence Energia y Celulosa, 5.A.
and subsidiaries, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, have been formulated
by the Directors of the Parent Company on 19 February 2013. This document contains the English transtation of
such financial information.

In the event that there was a discrepancy between the English translation with the version of the annual accounts
and consolidated management report for the year 2012 Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries in
Spanish, the Spanish version prevails.
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